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Foreword 

Welcome to our annual report for 2019/20. 

I am writing this foreword at a time of quite monumental challenge for our CCG, and all 

health and care services operating both within our city, and across the country. 

Predicting the future is never a wise endeavour at the best of times, and as our NHS 

grapples with the current coronavirus pandemic, it is even more impossible than usual to 

know what will be happening when you read this document. 

My original intention was to use this opportunity to mark the five year ‘anniversary’ of the 

publication of the Portsmouth Blueprint. Back in 2015 we published that vision, setting out 

our ambition of a future where the health and social care sectors in the city were far more 

integrated with each other, and where services were designed with the needs of patients in 

mind, not the needs of the organisations delivering them. The result, we hoped, was a 

system which helped Portsmouth residents to stay well and retain their independence 

whenever possible. 

If we were living through more normal times, I would now want to set out all of the ways we 

have tried to make that vision a reality, and talk proudly about the progress which has been 

made, while accepting that there is still plenty of unfinished business for us to take care of. 

Indeed, there are numerous examples of positive change. 

If you have back pain you can now access physiotherapy directly, without having to go via a 

GP. If you are struggling with your emotional health, Positive Minds offers a welcoming drop-

in service for those needing to reach out for help. A new hub for people with long-term 

conditions is being tested out, aiming to make care better, and more consistent, across the 

city. A new home visiting service has been a notable success, as has the new arrangement 

for offering primary care appointments outside traditional working hours – enormously 

helped by the success in supporting all GP practices, all mental health and community NHS 

services, and all social care services to share the same system for storing patient data. 

Nobody would ever consider the delivery of the ambitions of the Blueprint to be done and 

dusted – in such a rapidly changing environment, we simply have to keep adapting  no 

matter what our prior achievements – but I am certainly proud of the progress we have 

made, and never take for granted the importance of delivering these changes for our 

patients. 

But 2020 will always be remembered as the year that coronavirus hit us, changing the world 

as it moved around the globe. And given that inescapable fact, I really wanted to draw 

attention to one aspect of the Blueprint which often gets less attention than the individual 

services which have taken root over the last five years. 

The Blueprint was never about just changing individual services. It was about transforming 

relationships, and bringing organisations more closely together, for the benefit of those who 

rely on them. At a time when Covid-19 has put people, teams and organisations under such 



 Page 5  

 
 

 

extraordinary pressures, the progress we have made here has been particularly evident, and 

important. 

It is so impressive that members of our CCG team were quickly deployed to work alongside 

our city council colleagues, ensuring that the most vulnerable in our city were identified, and 

supported to stay safe and well. 

Other colleagues were immediately busy supporting the network of GP practices and 

pharmacies in the city, nursing colleagues were offering frontline help to care homes and 

other care providers, and others were working flat out behind the scenes to help providers 

make essential and rapid changes to the way they worked. All this alongside trying to keep 

the show on the road for the vital ‘day job’ tasks such as ensuring care quality remained 

high, making sure providers got paid and paid promptly, and monitoring service 

performance. 

Our CCG was able to respond so quickly, so positively, and so effectively because of the 

way that relationships have been developed and strengthened over recent years – with the 

city council, with GP practices, with other providers, and with the voluntary sector. It 

definitely isn’t Mission: Accomplished and perhaps never will be, but there is now a real 

sense that we all stand together, that our goals are shared, and that we best serve 

Portsmouth residents by first seeking ways to work together, not individually. 

In the strange and testing circumstances of 2020 I am definitely not going to risk looking 

ahead and predicting what we will achieve in next five years. I will, however, be bold enough 

to say that – if we all continue to build relationships and partnerships as we have done since 

the Blueprint was first published – then we will be as well placed as possible to face 

whatever the world may have in store for us in 2025. 

 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows 

Chair of Governing Board 

NHS Portsmouth CCG  
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SECTION 1 PERFORMANCE REPORT 

This section of the annual report provides an overview of our performance across our range 

of responsibilities between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2020. These include our main areas 

of focus over the past year (section 1.3), our performance against important national targets, 

and actions we have taken to improve this (section 1.4). Later sections of the report provide 

updates on some of our other key statutory requirements and responsibilities including 

sustainability (1.5), quality (1.6), how we have engaged with patients, public and our key 

stakeholders (1.7), and reducing inequalities (1.8). 

1.1 Overview 

Established in April 2013, the CCG is responsible for commissioning (or planning, buying, 

and ensuring the quality of) healthcare services in Portsmouth including hospital care, 

primary care (provided in local GP surgeries), urgent and emergency care, and most 

community health services, including mental health and learning disabilities. We commission 

for a population of around 231,000 people spending around £341 million per annum. Our 

geographical boundaries match those of Portsmouth City Council. 

We are a membership organisation, led by five local GPs elected to represent all the GP 

practices in the city.  

We want people who live in the city to be able to lead longer and healthier lives knowing 

that, when they need help, they can get it quickly and easily with the minimum of fuss. Our 

role is to ensure that, through working with every GP surgery in the city, as well as local 

organisations that provide, or support the provision of, health and care services and our 

public, Portsmouth people have access to the best possible NHS care as and when they 

need it 

1.2 The context in which we work – Health and Care Portsmouth 
 

Health and Care Portsmouth 

Health and Care Portsmouth is an ambitious programme that continues to change the way 

we plan and provide health and social care in the city, bringing together the CCG and the 

Council and a wide range of other providers of services in a way that is positive and 

proactive. In effect, we are working together to support people to live healthy, safe and 

independent lives by offering health and social care services that are joined up and provided 

in the right place, at the right time. 

 

We are doing this because people have regularly told us that we must continue to bring 

services together in a way that makes sense for the individual but also allows front-line 

professionals to deliver care in a way that is not restricted by professional, organisational or 

financial boundaries.  

 

Our Big Health Conversation engagement programme has highlighted many common 

themes from people over the past few years. Whether it is services relating to urgent care, 

mental health, support from GP practices, care for the frail elderly or adult social care the 
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most common themes we hear about are disjointed services, difficulties with communication 

between different parts of the system or gaps in the range of provision, and these are things 

we want to put right.  

 

We hear similar things from staff working locally too, both in primary care and in community 

services in particular, and, alongside this, we know there is much more that can be done to 

improve efficiency, so that we can continue to live within our means, with quality services, so 

that people locally can receive the kind of safe, effective care that they would expect. 

 

So, our strategy is based on joining up (integrating) services around the care of each 

individual, building on the well-known, well-established services that Portsmouth people 

know and use. However, we are not afraid to significantly transform these where the 

evidence supports this.  

 

Primary and community care is at the core of our strategy. We recognise and value the 

contribution made by GPs, pharmacists and all primary care professionals to health and care 

in Portsmouth and understand they are highly valued by patients. The contribution made by 

our local voluntary sector is also becoming more and more crucial for us in the way we work, 

and more highly valued as it develops. 

 

Our original blueprint for Health and Care in the city set a five year target for improvement 

and we are coming towards the end of that first term now. Obviously this has been subject to 

review as time has gone by but we are still confident that we have made considerable 

progress against our original set of targets and secured a partnership approach across the 

city that will help us deliver even more over the next few years. 

 

The aims of Health and Care Portsmouth fit with the guidance and recommendations 

outlined in the NHS Long Term Plan published early in 2019 (the successor plan to the Five 

Year Forward View), and the vision of our local Hampshire and Isle of Wight Sustainability & 

Transformation Programme (STP), and these are that people will: 

 

 be able to access effective services to meet their goals to manage their own health 

and stay well and independent; 

 be able to plan ahead and keep control at times of crisis in their health and care; 

 spend less time in hospital and institutional care; 

 access responsive services which help them to maintain their independence; 

 have access to the right information and support about services available; 

 have access to simple, effective services when they have an urgent health, care or 

welfare need; 

 have a strong voice about how services are designed and delivered; 

 feel confident that their care is coordinated and that they only have to tell their story 

once; 

 benefit from the use of technology to help them stay well and independent. 
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Working together 

The CCG and Portsmouth City Council have a clear focus on improving the health and life 

experiences of the people of Portsmouth recognising that in order to do this we must 

continue to work as part of wider care partnerships and systems.  

 

Across the Hampshire and Isle of Wight region all NHS and local authority partners are 

considering how they will need to change to further promote integrated delivery of services 

for their residents. This is already well established in Portsmouth and this places the city in a 

good position to continue to deliver improvements for residents and also be an active partner 

in shaping these wider regional reforms. 

 

The CCG and the Council already work closely together to deliver many health and care 

responsibilities, including:  

 Portsmouth Health and Wellbeing Board providing politically accountable, multi-

agency strategic governance; 

 a single vision, operating model and blueprint for ‘Health and Care Portsmouth’ with 

an underpinning executive and work programmes;  

 Health and Care Portsmouth Executive Group, providing senior officer input across 

NHS, public health, adults and children's services and community safety;  

 integrated commissioning team with single planning and programmes and pooled 

resources;  

 a single shared continuing health care team for adults with shared staff, one process 

and pooled resources;  

 delivery of a number of enabling and support functions by the Council to the CCG  

 integrated executive leadership through a shared Chief of Health & Care Portsmouth 

who oversees the care systems working for the city and manages adult social care 

alongside CCG commissioning responsibilities. 

 

The Health and Care Portsmouth approach is far more than just the Council and CCG 

working together more closely. The Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance (PPCA – a local body 

that represents the city’s GP practices), and our local providers Solent NHS Trust and 

Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust, are a vital component in all that we are trying to achieve, 

along with the voluntary sector in Portsmouth as well. We continue to appreciate their co-

operation, together with that of our member GP practices, and all our partners and 

stakeholders as well as the patients, carers and members of the public who have been 

willing to share their views on local services with us. This is really critical in helping us 

develop important and exciting new approaches to the way that health and care is delivered 

in the city.   

The NHS, locally and nationally, continues to face a great many challenges in terms of a 

growing and more complex demand on services, pressures on finance, and difficulties in 

recruiting skilled staff. There is much we must do if we are to deliver the requirements of the 

NHS Long Term Plan and our own Health and Care Portsmouth ambitions.  

In addition to the way we are forging partnerships through Health and Care Portsmouth, the 

CCG also works in a commissioning partnership with NHS Fareham and Gosport and NHS 

South Eastern Hampshire CCGs. This focuses mainly on shared approaches to working with 
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Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust, as the provider of hospital-based services in our area. The 

three CCGs also share teams for the delivery of certain functions, notably: performance and 

planning, finance, communications and Emergency Planning Response & Resilience 

(EPRR). 

 

Portsmouth and South East Hampshire Integrated Care Partnership  

The three CCGs also work as part of a wider Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) for 

Portsmouth and South East Hampshire which includes all NHS providers (including primary 

care) delivering health services for people for the area. Portsmouth City Council and 

Hampshire County Council are also members of this Integrated Care Partnership.  

 

The ICP has a clear improvement plan for the residents of Portsmouth and south east 

Hampshire within some clearly defined objectives. These are  

 

 To deliver long-term improvements in health and care outcomes, supporting 

residents to stay well, reducing inequalities and reducing avoidable illness.  

 To improve the quality and safety of health and care services, with all services 

assessed by the CQC and Ofsted to be ‘good’ or better, and increasing proportions 

of people reporting a positive experience of, and greater involvement in their care.  

 To deliver the agreed waiting time standards for health and care services, by 

making fast and tangible progress in urgent and emergency care reform, 

strengthening general practice, community and social care services, improving 

mental health and planned care services.  

 To manage services within the money available, delivering substantial system 

efficiencies and moderating the growth in demand for health and care services. 

 

1.3 Reviewing our year 
 

1.3.1 Health and Care Portsmouth  

 

Over the past year we have been able to see some real examples of how our plans to 

integrate care and support are being turned into tangible improvements in frontline services. 

Some examples of this are: 

 

 PositiveMinds: this new service opened right at the end of 2019, to provide support 

to people who are struggling to cope – perhaps suffering anxiety, stress, depression, 

or low mood, and also including services specifically aimed at supporting veterans 

and their families. It is funded by the NHS, the Council, and the Armed Forces 

Covenant, with staff from Solent Mind and Solent NHS Trust. People can book in 

advance if they wish but no appointment is necessary – they can just drop in to talk 

to trained wellbeing advisors, who have lived through difficulties themselves, and can 

relate to how people are feeling. PositiveMinds is one of a number of projects to 

improve emotional wellbeing in Portsmouth that health, social care and voluntary and 

community groups are working together to deliver. Other projects include Towards 

Better Health, which provides mental health nurses to support homeless people, 

the Time to Change Hub, the creation of a mental health crisis card available for 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/news/portsmouth-and-southampton-awarded-funding-to-tackle-mental-health-stigma
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/mental-health-crisis-card-web-final.pdf
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individuals and groups, and Portsmouth Interaction, to provide sports and leisure 

activities to those experiencing mental illness. 

 

 Long-term conditions hub: a pilot scheme to offer a new style of support to people 

living with long-term conditions in the city started during the winter. The scheme 

focuses on two types of conditions – respiratory illnesses and diabetes – and 

operates from two city GP practices. The intention is to make care and support more 

consistent across Portsmouth, and to equip patients with the ability to manage their 

own health more effectively. The project brings together staff from acute, community 

and primary care, to offer patients a more co-ordinated package of support than is 

currently available. 

 

 Enhanced support for care homes: the enhanced care home team pilot continues, 

but is being gradually spread out across more of the city. The intention is to provide 

care home residents with coordinated, integrated and proactive support, delivered by 

a team which includes a GP, pharmacist, and community nurses, working alongside 

mental health nurses and occupational therapists as appropriate. There is also a real 

emphasis on working with the care home teams themselves. Initially four homes 

were included in the scheme (out of 24 in the city), and that has now grown to eight. 

 

 First contact physio: This new physiotherapy triage service means Portsmouth 

residents now have direct access to care. Following a successful trial, the First 

Contact Physio service is now available in all GP surgeries in Portsmouth. It puts 

patients directly in touch with a physiotherapist, without the need to see another 

clinical professional first. The new triage service is being delivered by Solent NHS 

Trust as part of Health and Care Portsmouth, and is running in surgeries across the 

city (Monday to Friday 8am to 12pm). First Contact Physio will benefit many people 

as well as freeing up GP appointments for those who need them most. When they 

contact their surgery, patients with symptoms like back or neck pain, or a hip, knee or 

shoulder complaint, may be offered a same-day telephone appointment with a 

specialist physiotherapist. The consultation will provide an opportunity for patients to 

gain advice or treatment directly to speed up recovery. 

 Children's Mental Health Services:  Late in 2019, the city was inspected around 

the safeguarding or children with mental health needs.  Four inspectorates (CQC, 

Ofsted, HMIP and inspectors of Police services) spent two weeks looking in detail at 

our mental health offer across health, social care, youth justice and education 

services.  The Joint Area Inspection involved 14 inspectors looking at all aspects of 

our work across the system, including a deep dive into 7 children's cases.  The final 

report was very positive, illustrating excellent effective work across the partnership to 

meet the health and safeguarding needs of vulnerable children and their 

families.  Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services in particular received glowing 

praise from the inspection team. 

 

1.3.2 CQC ratings 

 

https://www.bhliveactive.org.uk/portsmouth-interaction/
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During the year the city was in the welcome position of having all local healthcare providers 

rated as ‘Good’ or better, by the Care Quality Commission. 

 

Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust, Solent NHS Trust, Southern Health NHS Foundation 

Trust, the Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance, St Mary’s Treatment Centre (Care UK), and all 

city GP practices had positive ratings from the CQC – a significant achievement by all 

concerned. 

 

The positive news also extended to the Special Education and Disability (SEND) services 

across the city who received a glowing report from Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission 

in September. 

 

They reported that: "strong leadership in the local area is leading to the successful 

implementation of SEND reforms; with leaders' well-constructed plans for further 

improvement successfully encouraging a collaborative approach." 

 

Many different organisations in Portsmouth come together to deliver SEND services to try 

and ensure that young children have access to the support they need to get a good start in 

life. The foundations for this come from an approach of co-production with the 'shaping 

better futures together' co-production group [of parents and carers] highlighted positively in 

the report, alongside collaboration between the different agencies. 

 

1.3.3 Primary care 

 

Primary care services in the city and across the country continue to face significant pressure, 

and as a result of this pressure the sector is experiencing a period of change after decades 

of relative stability. 

 

Mergers are becoming more commonplace, often as a means of building resilience as 

practices respond to increasing levels of demand for care, or cope with difficulties around 

recruitment and retention. Mergers can also be a positive development in terms of enabling 

practices to provide a range of services that one or other may find difficult to deliver 

individually.  

 

A range of local solutions are being explored to promote sustainability of general practice: 

 The Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance is well-established, offering both a unified 

voice for the sector, and also a strong, collective means of delivering services. 

 The Acute Visiting Service has helped both to ease the burden on practices, and to 

ensure at-risk patients are seen earlier in the day. 

 The emerging multi-disciplinary care home teams are working to improve and 

standardise care to vulnerable residents, while also reducing demands on practices. 

 Active signposting and social prescribing are now available to help people prevent 

physical and emotional ill health. 

 The development of Primary Care Networks (PCNs – see below) should make 

practices more robust, helping to further diversify the skill mix within practices and 

networks. 
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 All practices offer patients new ways of contacting practices, and new ways for 

clinical staff to assess and advise patients. The eConsult platform is now used by all 

city practices, and the use of Skype and the NHS App is increasing. Between Aug 

2019 and March 2020 over 1,500 patients registered with the NHS App. 

 

Primary Care Networks 

One of the key aims set out in the NHS Long Term Plan, and the new, national five year GP 

contract, is the development of primary care networks across the country. 

 

Primary care networks encourage GP practices to work together to deliver services to 

populations of 30,000 – 50,000 patients. Benefits are expected to include creating greater 

sustainability and stability within primary care, improving opportunities around workforce, 

workload and estates; and, again, the theme of bringing together health and care teams to 

deliver integrated services focused on an individual’s needs within local communities.  

 

The development of networks will also enable a greater focus on the wider health and care 

needs of populations, encouraging a proactive approach in managing population health 

needs and reducing inequalities. 

 

There are clear and obvious links here with our Health and Care Portsmouth work and 

practices have been encouraged to support and participate in the development of networks 

through the new GP contract. There are five primary care networks in the city, built around 

already-established natural communities that make sense to patients. 

 

Practice mergers 

The Lighthouse Group Practice, comprising the Devonshire and Southsea Medical Centre 

practices, officially came into being in July 2019 following a formal merger approved by the 

CCG. The intention behind the merger is to ensure long-term sustainability of service for 

patients and the viability of both practices, and enable them to build on opportunities to 

develop cost-effective and high-quality services. Both the sites that the practices currently 

operate from will remain open. 

 

In March 2020 the CCG formally approved an application for Hanway Road Practice to 

merge with the Portsdown Group Practice which would involve the closure of the 

Stubbington Avenue and Hanway Road premises within six months of that date. 

The role of the CCG in reviewing such applications is to ensure that the proposals will meet 

the primary medical care needs of the population, that they are financially viable, and to 

ensure the practices have informed their patients of the proposals, engaged with them to 

gather feedback, and to consider that feedback. 

 

Improving access with online support 

Practices across the city have been aligning themselves with the new NHS app programme 

over the past year. Patients using the app can access information about conditions and 

treatments, book and manage appointments, order a repeat prescription, check if they need 

urgent help and view their medical record.   
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It has benefits and patients like the fact they can get 24 hour access from anywhere, they do 

not have to spend long periods of time on the phone and they have more control over 

appointments. It works for practices too, in that it means staff can spend less time dealing 

with requests to book appointments and order repeat prescriptions. It also means that 

instances of patients not attending for appointments are reduced as it is easier for them to 

cancel appointments if they need to.  

Meanwhile, all of the city’s practices are offering eConsult, an online function that involves 

the practice responding to enquiries from patients through their website, usually within 48 

hours, often saving patients the need to book routine appointments.  

People often have simple questions that can be answered by email – giving patients 

reassuring and faster advice than waiting for an appointment.  

eConsult is making a big difference to patients – by giving them the chance to have a 

consultation from the comfort of their home and saving them having to phone or come to the 

surgery. They can also be directed to the most appropriate service for them at the first point 

of contact – rather than attending an appointment only to be told they need to go somewhere 

else.  

Using eConsult also frees up doctors’ time to see those patients who most need an 

appointment. 

Care navigators 

All Portsmouth GP practices have introduced a new scheme which should help patients see 

the most appropriate healthcare professional more quickly. 

Around 230 practice staff across the city, including a number of receptionists, have received 

external training to become care navigators. Whilst they don’t offer clinical advice, they can 

help signpost people to the most appropriate health service for their needs.  

Care navigators have access to a directory of information about services to point patients to 

the most appropriate source of help, advice and support. 

On many occasions, a GP might not be the most suitable person for the patient to speak to 

or see. Patients can often be seen much more quickly by a nurse or physiotherapist, for 

example. Care navigators will play an important role in not only helping patients to access 

faster healthcare, but also ensuring that GPs can dedicate most of their time to those who 

most need their help. 

 

1.3.4 Medicines and medicines optimisation 

 

Antibiotic prescriptions 

We have seen another encouraging fall in the number of patient prescriptions for antibiotics 

this year. According to figures released in June 2019, in the four years since 2015 in 

Portsmouth the number fell from 10,383 items to 8,113 (22%). Our medicines management 

team has been supporting audits in practices around antimicrobial use and GPs and practice 

nurses are taking a proactive role in promoting alternative treatments where 
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appropriate. GPs are using evidence-based practice to ensure the correct antibiotic for the 

condition is used and for the correct length of time.  

 

Electronic prescriptions 

Portsmouth has become the first area in the country where GP prescriptions for all patients 

can be sent electronically. 

The CCG has been piloting the latest improvement to the Electronic Prescription Services 

(EPS) Phase 4. 

This allows GP prescriptions for all patients to be sent using the more efficient digital system 

and not just those who have chosen a regular nominated dispenser. 

EPS saves the NHS time and money by reducing the amount of paper processing required 

by GPs, pharmacists and the NHS Business Services Authority. 

The CCG is the first in the country to see all its GP practices able to use EPS. Once the 

NHS Digital system is rolled out across England, it is estimated it will save the NHS £130m a 

year. 

Patients see little or no change to the process of being prescribed medicines by their GP, or 

how they request and collect them from their community pharmacy. Moving from what was 

essentially a paper-driven process to an approach which is primarily digitally-focused means 

much greater efficiency for our GP practices and dispensing pharmacies in terms of time and 

accuracy, and this should be positive for patients, too. 

It also helps to create a much more accurate picture for us in terms of assessing prescribing 

data, which we can now do more quickly and with a greater degree of confidence in the 

information we are reviewing. 

1.3.5 Mental health 

Money from a national NHS transformation fund for mental health liaison is enabling mental 

health and acute trusts and commissioners across Hampshire to work together to increase 

and better coordinate the provision of psychiatric liaison in Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust 

and other acute hospitals across the county. 

The scheme will see four psychiatric liaison teams, based on-site at each hospital operating 

24 hours a day, seven days a week and aiming to see adults requiring mental health support 

within one hour of an emergency department referral. 

A mental health liaison service already exists at Queen Alexandra hospital and in 

Winchester and Basingstoke , the new funding will allow the service to develop in a more 

coordinated way (to reduce variation across Hampshire) by having similar models and 

recruiting additional staff to expand the assessment and care offered to patients. 

Additional specialist staff will mean that patients in A&E and on wards won’t have to wait as 

long for a mental health assessment. This will mean less time spent in hospital and will 

significantly improve the quality of holistic health care while in an acute hospital setting.  
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In addition to the funding for improved psychiatric liaison services, Southern Health has also 

worked with partners to secure a further £1.1 million to invest in community-based crisis 

mental health services. 

The Trust linked with local commissioners across Southampton, Portsmouth and Hampshire, 

plus the Isle of Wight NHS Trust, Solent NHS Trust, and several local charities - Solent 

Mind, Havant Mind and Two Saints on the Isle of Wight. 

The new money will see greater investment in peer support workers (people who have 

themselves experienced mental health problems) as well as nurses and medical staff in 

community teams. It will also enable more joined up services so that operating hours can be 

increased. 

Meanwhile, in partnership with neighbouring CCGs, we have developed the Paediatric 

Psychiatric Liaison Service led by Solent NHS working alongside PHT.  The model in place 

is proving to be effective in assessment and planning for young people in mental health 

crisis, linked to existing crisis provision.  Covid 19 has meant a temporary relocation of the 

service but no major disruption to the pathway.  Demand is higher than anticipated for 16/17 

years olds which is currently being reviewed.  

1.3.6 Managing demand over winter 

As ever, the winter period brings challenges to the health and care system in general, and 

frontline staff in particular. 

This winter there has been a high degree of co-ordination between all parts of health and 

care, both in Portsmouth and the surrounding areas. There have been several areas of focus 

– seeking to reduce the number of ‘inappropriate’ attendances at the Emergency 

Department, increasing the ‘flow’ of patients through the acute hospital system, ensuring 

safe and timely discharges from hospital, and strengthening out of hours primary care 

provision. 

Portsmouth City Council received £890,000 in 2019/2020 as its Adults Winter Pressure 

Grant. This funding is overseen by our (Council/CCG) Better Care Fund Programme 

Management Group and was used to fund a number of schemes over the winter period 

including significant investment into rapid access domiciliary care, enabling people to be 

discharged from hospital without delay. The funding was also used to provide two social 

workers employed by the Council, but based at Queen Alexandra Hospital enabling timely, 

proportionate adult assessments to be carried out to reduce delayed discharges. A social 

worker was also funded to work with the NHS 111 team to handle enquiries from ambulance 

crews to manage and reduce conveyance queries where possible. 

A telemedicine/telehealth project also received funds, to develop video conferencing 

equipment for care homes to contact GPs and clinicians. This project complements the 

current work of the enhanced care home team, as a means of reducing care home 

admissions, calls and conveyances. 

Inevitably, there were still periods when staff were operating under heightened pressure, but 

in general terms all parts of the local system have combined to work effectively, albeit 

acknowledging that there remains no room for complacency. 
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1.3.7 Emergency preparedness resilience and response (EPRR) 

The three CCGs of Portsmouth, South Eastern Hampshire and Fareham and Gosport 

continue to have an agreement to work together to deliver their responsibilities as category 2 

responders under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 using a service level agreement. They 

have a joint on call rota and a joint incident response plan which has been formally agreed 

by each organisation. 

It has been a busy year for EPRR with significant input required to support the multi-agency 

planning in readiness for the UK leaving the EU – work which was scaled back as the 

political climate became clearer in year. The CCG also helped support the planning for D-

Day 75 in June 2019 and attended the ‘contingency’ Tactical Coordinating Group on the day 

working with multi-agency partners to ensure the day ran smoothly. The CCGs have 

responded to the local health system pressures and played an active part in the gold 

command arrangements as well as working with the wider system. 

However, clearly, the most significant response requirement was in relation to the Covid-19 

coronavirus pandemic which has required an ongoing and substantial commitment through a 

multi-agency approach. At the time of writing this report the full impact of the pandemic is yet 

to be realised but all the signs point to it being one of the most significant challenges the 

NHS locally, and nationally, has ever had to address. 

This year CCGs were also required to self-assess against the NHS core standards for EPRR 

including a ‘deep dive’ into ‘severe weather and long term adaptation (Climate Change). The 

self-assessment of 43 core standards identified that the organisation is compliant with 40 of 

them and addressing the remaining 3. 

1.3.8 Wheelchair services 

The CCG, working with Fareham and Gosport and South Eastern Hampshire CCGs, has 

invested further funding and capacity into the current wheelchair service to help the provider 

manage the capacity and meet demand.  We also successfully tendered, after a 

procurement process and engagement with service users, for a new wheelchair provider to 

provide the service from the 1st April 2020.  Through the further investment we delivered an 

additional 250 assessments to those waiting and through the new provider we will continue 

to improve outcomes and experience for local patients, along with offering increased access 

to Personal Wheelchair Budgets. 
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1.4 How we performed this year  

As a CCG, we monitor our performance using a broad range of measures in order to provide 
as complete a view as possible of how we are delivering on behalf of our population. 
 
Performance and progress is monitored against delivery of: 

 

 Key NHS Constitutional Standards – ensuring the CCG rights and pledges are 
delivered. 

 NHS Operating Plan Guidance and Commitments. 

 NHS Long Term Plan (LTP). 

 NHS Oversight Framework. 

 Portsmouth and South Eastern Hampshire (PSEH) Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) 
Strategy. 

 Hampshire and Isle of Wight (HIOW) Strategic Transformation Partnership plan. 

 Other CCG commitments. 
 

An overview of those performance elements is linked to the CCG’s strategic objectives. 
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The following table provides an overview of our latest performance and that of applicable providers against key constitutional standards; 
 

 
  

Performance and progress against the key constitutional standards is captured through the CCG’s Performance Report. This report is used to 
provide the Governing Board and the Executive Committee with a high level overview of the overall CCG performance against key 
constitutional targets and other standards that define an effective commissioner. 
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Furthermore, our performance and planning tool is utilised in real time providing our 
stakeholder with an up to date overview in relation to the latest performance statistics. 
 
In addition performance discussions with provider organisations occur through: 

 Provider contract review meetings. 

 Board to board meetings. 

 Chair to Chief Officer meetings on delivery of specific performance measures. 

 Wider system discussions as part of the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP). 

 Joint analytics discussions evaluating current performance, emerging trends and 
risks. 
 

1.4.1 Key issues and risks 

The CCG adopts risk based planning tools and other intelligence tools are used to provide 
an oversight on performance and to give early warning of any issues that may impact on 
future performance.  System-wide trend data is analysed and reviewed to understand cause 
and effect and is used as a starting point for conversations with provider colleagues to 
understand and address any potential issues before they are realised. 

Over the past 12 months, the CCG has managed a number of important risks in the following 
areas. More information about our approach to managing and mitigating risk can be found in 
our Governance Statement. 

The CCG identified the following strategic risks on the Governing Board Assurance 
Framework: 

 Engaging with Member Practices and patients to fully support clinically-led decision-

making. 

 Continue partnership working to shape and deliver our plans and strategies. This 

includes those partners outside the NHS in the delivery of improving health and 

wellbeing. 

 Commissioning safe services with a focus on improving quality. 

 Maintain credibility in order to deliver our priorities. 

 Ensuring that we meet our financial obligations. 

We report risks regularly to our Governing Body and these papers are available to the public 

on the CCG’s website. 

To ensure that all the services we commission deliver the outcome we want for our 

population, we have a number of processes and approaches in place to help us manage 

contract performance and these include: 

 Working as part of an Integrated Care Partnership to design and develop 

solutions which provide the best possible experience for our patients and 

partners. 

 Providing consistent information and themes across the system on issues 

impacting on performance to ensure the system act together as one in tackling 

these issues. 
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 A&E Delivery Board providing oversight and accountability of delivery of 

unscheduled care standards. 

 Accountability at contract review meetings (monthly) and executive contract 

review meetings (quarterly) with key providers including: South Central 

Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust, Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust, 

Solent NHS Trust and Care UK. 

 Using attendance at existing meetings where necessary to discuss any matters 

that may arise and need resolution. 

The above processes support our aim to commission excellent, integrated patient care for 

our population within our financial budget.  

1.4.2 Performance against NHS Constitution Standards 

Urgent Care 

Accident & Emergency 

Due to our main provider (Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust) taking part in a national pilot, 

performance relating to the 4 hour Accident & Emergency response time has been 

suspended although response times continue to be monitored locally through the A&E 

Delivery Board.  

 

111 Calls Answered within 60 Seconds 

South Central Ambulance Service (SCAS) achieved the standard in January 2020 reporting 

95.6% against a target of 95%. This is a significant improvement from the 2018/19 financial 

year. 

 

 
 
999 Ambulance Response Times 

South Central Ambulance Service met five of the six national ambulance response time 

targets in January 2020; 

 

 People with life threatening injuries and illnesses (Category 1 - average) waited 7 

minutes and 5 seconds against a threshold of 7 minutes.  

 People with life threatening injuries and illnesses (Category 1 – 90th percentile) waited 12 

minutes and 54 seconds against a threshold of 15 minutes. ✔ 

 People with emergency calls (Category 2 – average) waited 15 minutes and 24 seconds 

against a target of 18 minutes. ✔ 

 People with emergency calls (Category 2 – 90th percentile) waited 30 minutes 27 

seconds against a target of 40 minutes. ✔ 

 People with urgent calls (Category 3 - 90th percentile) received a response within 1 hour, 

41 minutes and 21 seconds against a target of 2 hours.✔ 

 People with less urgent calls (Category 4 - 90th percentile) received a response within 2 

hours, 20 minutes and 42 seconds against a target of 3 hours. ✔ 

 

Organisation Frequency Target Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20

111 Calls answered within 60 seconds SCAS M 95.0% 91.1% 85.4% 95.6%
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The Trust continues to perform well against the revised national ambulance response time. 

 

The table below provides a summary of performance trend for the last 3 months;  

 

Planned Care  

Cancer Care 

As at the end of quarter 3, the CCG was on target to achieve 7 of the 8 national cancer 

standards; 

 97.8% of patients waited no more than 2 weeks to see a specialist following a referral for 

suspected cancer against a target of 93%. ✔ 

 98.10% of patients referred for investigation of breast symptoms were seen within 2 

weeks against target of 93%. ✔ 

 96.5% of patients waited 31 days or less from the date a decision to treat was made to 

their first definitive treatment. ✔ 

 100% of cancer patients waited no more than 31 days for subsequent treatment where 

the treatment was surgery against a standard of 94%. ✔ 

 100% of patients waited no more than 31 days wait for subsequent treatment where the 

treatment was an anti-cancer drug against a target of 98%. ✔ 

 100% of patients waited no more than 31 days for subsequent treatment where the 

treatment was Radiotherapy against a target of 94%. ✔ 

 84.6% of patients received their first treatment within 62 days following a GP referral 

against a target of 85%. 

 93.3% waited no more than 62 days for their first treatment following a referral from a 

screening service against a target of 90%. ✔ 

Although currently off target, the CCG’s performance in relation to the Cancer 62 Day 

Waiting Time standard from GP referral to treatment continues to improve and remains 

above England average for the same period.  

 

Of the patients referred in March, 33 of the 39 received their first treatment within the 

standard, just missing the target. The CCG continues to work closely with provider 

colleagues to prioritise cancer standards. 
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Referral to Treatment (RTT) 
The 2019/20 NHS Operating Planning Guidance requires CCGs to ensure their Referral to 

Treatment incomplete waiting list size at the end of the financial year is no larger than the 

March 2019 out turn position; 

 

 As at the end of January 2020, the CCG’s Referral to Treatment RTT Incomplete waiting 

list size at the end of January 2019 was 13,510 pathways against a monthly trajectory of 

13,500 and year-end threshold of 12,313 pathways. 

 For the same period, there were no patients waiting in excess of 52 weeks for treatment. 

✔ 

 

 
 
The growth seen in waiting list size has been driven by a mismatch between demand and 

capacity across a number of specialties. In response, the system has agreed a priority 

programme to address this by working with acute and community providers to transform end 

to end pathways.  This work continues. 

 
Diagnostic Test Waiting Time 

Consistent achievement of the national Diagnostic Waiting Time standard remains a 

challenge for the CCG: 

 

 98.02% of patients were waiting less than 6 weeks for a diagnostic test at the end of 

January 2020 against a standard of 99%.  

 

Despite not achieving the standard in January 2020, performance was above the national 

average for the same period which was 96.4%. 

 

 
 
The CCG’s performance is driven by that of its main acute provider, Portsmouth Hospitals 

NHS Trust. We continue to work closely with the Trust and other local providers to create a 

sustainable diagnostics service, supporting early diagnosis, improved access and access to 

rapid diagnostics for cancer pathways for our patients.  

 
Audiology Waiting Times 
Delivery of the national Audiology Waiting time standard remains a challenge for the CCG. 

Performance continues to be impacted by capacity issues at our main acute provider, 

Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust; 

 

 Latest published data places the proportion of patient waiting less than 18 weeks for an 

Audiology treatment (hearing aid fitting) at 58.0% against a target of 92%. 

 

 
 

Organisation Frequency Target Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20

RTT: Incomplete Waiting List Size CCG M 12313 13419 13307 13510

RTT: Incomplete Performance CCG M 92.0% 80.8% 80.3% 80.6%

RTT: Patients waiting more than 52 Weeks CCG M 0 1 0 0

Organisation Frequency Target Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20

Diagnostic Test Waiting Times CCG M 99.0% 97.8% 98.3% 98.0%

Organisation Frequency Target Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20

Audiology: Incomplete Waiting List Performance CCG M 92.0% 59.9% 61.8% 58.0%



 Page 23  

 
 

 

There has been a slow but steady improvement in performance throughout the year and we 

continue to work closely with Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust to reduce the waiting times for 

routine adult hearing aid fittings. 

 

Mental Health 

The CCG continues to provide prompt access, treatment and support to more people with 

mental health need as shown in our performance against the following performance 

standards; 

 

Dementia Diagnosis 

For the year to date (January 2020), the CCG continues to achieve the Dementia Diagnosis 

standard and remains on target to do so for the year; 

 

 For the period April 2019 to January 2020 the CCG’s performance in relation to the 

Dementia Diagnosis standard is 68.5% against a target of 67.5%.✔ 

 

 
 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 

The CCG has achieved all IAPT standards in Q3 2020 (latest published data); 

 

 4.9% of people entered treatment as at the end of January 2020 against a target of 

4.75%.✔ 

 55.6% People moved to recovery against a target of 50%. ✔ 

 87.3% of people who attended their first appointment were seen within 6 Weeks of 

referral against a standard of 75%. ✔ 

 99.2% of all first appointment were seen within 18 weeks of Referral  against a target of 

95%✔ 

 
The table below provides a summary trend of IAPT performance in the last 3 months; 
 

  
 
 
Out of Area Placements 

No CCG patients were placed out of area for acute mental health treatment in January 2020. 

The table below shows zero out of area placements for the last three months indicating that 

the CCG is treating its patients closer to home in relation to mental health. 

 

 

 

Organisation Frequency Target Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20

Dementia Diagnosis Rate CCG M 66.7% 68.2% 67.8% 68.0%

NHS Portsmouth CCG Constitutional Target Performance

Organisation Frequency Target Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20

Out of Area Placements for Mental Health Active at Period End CCG M 0 0 0 0
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1.4.3 Performance against the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework 

The CCG’s overall rating against the NHS England Improvement Assessment Framework 

was ‘good’ for 2018/19 – the most recently published data. 

. 

1.5 Ensuring we develop in a sustainable way 

We are committed to improving working conditions, tackling climate change and protecting 

the environment. Sustainability has become increasingly important as the impact of people’s 

lifestyles and business choices are changing the world in which we live.  As a CCG, we 

believe we can support sustainable development in the local area by focusing on three 

areas: 

 in our commissioning of health care services – ensuring we support 

environmental and social sustainability in our processes and approaches; 

 in our relationship with our member practices – to promote sustainable development 

across all our member practices. 

 as an organisation – taking actions to be a responsible organisation in respect of 

environmental and social sustainability; 

  
Although we are a small organisation, we still have a responsibility to ensure we behave in a 

responsible, ethical and sustainable manner. To achieve this we work as part of Health and 

Care Portsmouth to support Portsmouth City Council to improve working conditions, tackle 

climate change, and protect the environment. We work as a member of the Health and 

Wellbeing board and in partnership with our local Public Health colleagues in taking forward 

this approach within the city. 

 

In February 2020 this included the launch of a new carbon reduction strategy for the city. 

This sets out the foundations for the council, its suppliers and the wider city to come together 

to take action against climate change by focusing on projects that will have the most impact 

on carbon emissions. The city has already reduced carbon emissions by 30% - bringing the 

annual carbon emissions down from 1280 kilotons in 2005 to 862 kilotons in 2016. This is 

roughly the equivalent of everyone in Portsmouth not driving for a year or enough energy to 

power 48,000 homes a year.  

 

This has been achieved through a number of schemes including: 

 introducing energy efficient lighting in council buildings; 

 helping residents reduce their carbon emissions at home by installing more energy 

efficient health systems; 

 introduction of more electric vehicle charging points; 

 LED street lighting; 

 Food waste trial; 

 Upgrades to buses to improve air quality and reduce emissions; 

 A range of schemes to promote active travel including “bike doctor” bike services and 

repair clinics, bikeability training for children and the ‘Pompey Monster Walk to 

School Chall3nge’; 
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 Portsmouth International Port aiming to become the first zero emission operations 

port in the UK.  

 

The strategy’s five climate priorities for action are: 

 property 

 energy 

 transport 

 waste 

 environmental improvement (including greening). 

 

It recognises that 30% of the city’s emissions are estimated to come from transport (302 

kilotons), closely followed by energy consumed in private homes (236.2 kilotons) and 

commercial activity (266.8 kilotons). The strategy will be further developed with residents 

and businesses under the leadership of the Portsmouth Climate Action Board which the 

CCG actively supports.   

As a commissioner of health care services we manage a budget in excess of £300m and 

with these funds we need to ensure we are taking a sustainable approach. As part of our 

plans we continue to: 

 Seek to approach procurement in a sustainable way both in terms of procurement 

processes but also including include sustainability as part of our criteria when 

relevant in our reviews of pathways of care. 

 Ensure our providers share with us their monitoring and reporting on sustainability 

matters as part of our approach to quality (also reviewed via their annual reports). 

 Implement our Estates Strategy alongside our local health and care partners.  The 

work to date includes: 

 Continuing to review services (alongside our current providers), which will 

include efficient utilisation of estate with a view to rationalising estate, where 

possible and minimising void space (see void space below); 

 A review of leased estate – to ensure a process is in place to critically review 

requirements prior to any renewing of leases; 

 Ensuring that any void space has a future plan to utilise or close down the 

accommodation. 

 
We continue to work with our member practices to raise their awareness and consider 

their practice to improve efficiency and reduce carbon emissions in the future.  Many 

carbon saving initiatives also have a positive impact on health and wellbeing of practice 

staff and their patients as well as offering productivity and financial benefits. Our focus 

includes: 

 

 all practices now share the same record system (SystmOne) to allow electronic 

sharing of information and reduce the transfer of paper records. Solent NHS Trust 

and the Council’s adult social care team share the same system; 
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 continuing to broaden the scope of services available under ‘advice and guidance’ 

and promoting their use to avoid outpatient attendance and to reduce footfall to the 

hospital; 

 significant increase in the uptake and use of e-referrals to enable direct booking of 

appointments; 

 supporting practices to adopt other electronic alternatives to paper referrals in 

addition to e-referrals - for example to the new social prescribing team.  

 promoting the roll out of telephone triage, web consultations (e-consult) and other IT 

solutions avoiding the need for all patients to attend surgery.  

 embedding the Electronic Prescribing System (EPS) with its additional functionality 

for repeat dispensing. 

 

Sustainability as an organisation 

Although we do not own any property we still have a responsibility to ensure we behave in a 

responsible, ethical and sustainable manner.  Our lease for our headquarters and associated 

costs for energy, water and waste usage is now managed by Portsmouth City Council as our 

landlord (following our move in February 2016).  

Our carbon footprint for our headquarters accommodation shows that in 2019/20 we will 

consume 57.5 tonnes of carbon per year (relating to heat and light) which represents a 6% 

decrease from the previous year. Actions taken, and being taken, to achieve reductions in 

our carbon footprint in relation to our headquarters accommodation include: 

 Working with Portsmouth City Council to undertake space utilisation study to assess 

how space can be better utilised in the council’s civic offices; 

 Introduction of occupancy sensors in the building to ensure that energy and electricity 

is not expended on empty rooms and areas of the building; 

 Improved use of digital post solutions reducing paper letters and despatch journeys; 

 Expansion of the breadth and ways recycling is available at the Civic Offices; 

 Continuing to promote sustainable travel options available for staff and visitors 

including public transport links (bus and train); park and ride; as well as for staff being 

offered the opportunity to purchase a bicycle through a salary sacrifice scheme.   

 Showering and changing facilities as well as personal lockers for use by staff; 

 Rationalising the number of printers and photocopier resources we have on site as 

well as seeking to reduce our photocopier resources by half, reminding staff to look 

before they print and to avoid where possible; 

 Working with our staff forum to seek further ideas and suggestions for sustainable 

practices; 

 Promoting the use of teleconference, skype and video conferencing as a means to do 

business to prevent unnecessary travel. 

The chart below sets out carbon footprint split by heat and light consumption for each of the 

years of statutory operation of the CCG.  
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This shows a decrease over the six year period of around 43%.  This has particularly been 

achieved by our headquarters relocation into the Civic Offices with Portsmouth City Council.  

 

1.6 Improving Quality  

The NHS Constitution clearly articulates that patients have a right to high quality care. Under 

the Health and Social Care Act 2014, the CCG holds the responsibility for ensuring continual 

quality improvement of all locally commissioned NHS services.  

 

A quality service is one that recognises the individual needs and circumstances of the 

patient and ensures services are accessible, appropriate and effective for all and that 

workplaces support and empower staff to deliver high-quality care which is safe, clinically 

effective and delivers a positive experience for patients.  

 

The requirements for quality from our providers are set out in their contracts, which include a 

quality dashboard of key indicators with thresholds set for acceptable levels of care. Our 

quality assurance system ensures that we have early warning of any concerns and can 

address issues with providers to drive improvement. Scrutiny of the quality of care includes a 

number of processes to collate and triangulate information gathered from regular inspections 

and quality walk rounds from within the system and by external bodies such as the Care 

Quality Commission, NHS England and NHS Improvement.  

 

The CCG Quality and Safeguarding Committee (QSC) receives a monthly report on the work 

carried out by the Quality and Safeguarding Team. Through review and discussion at the 

QSC meeting the report supports the committee in meeting its terms of reference, primarily, 

to assure the Governing Board that the services the CCG commissions on behalf of the 
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people of Portsmouth are safe, of high quality and that any quality concerns and risks are 

monitored and managed effectively.  

The QSC reviews quality exceptions, risks relating to commissioned services (including GP 

practices), directing and mandating the Quality and Safeguarding team to undertake further 

actions to ensure required improvements are made, risks are mitigated and progress is 

evidenced. The committee ensures exceptions and risks are formally escalated to the 

Governing Board where it deems necessary.  Additionally the committee receives annual 

updates on children and adults continuing healthcare, Transforming Care, Mental Capacity 

Act and Prevent agendas. 

 

Increasingly the CCG is adopting a collaborative, partnership approach to assuring quality 

with providers by joining up processes through attendance at provider quality boards and 

serious incident panels, joint posts and reducing reporting requirements.  This is being 

advanced further by the development of a Portsmouth and South East Hampshire system 

approach to quality assurance.   

 

Clinical Quality Review Meetings are still held with some of the organisations commissioned 

to provide services. Where CQRMs do not occur the Quality and Safeguarding Team attend 

provider meetings. The purpose of these meetings is to seek assurance and support 

providers to provide safe high quality care. The patient voice and staff feedback play an 

integral role in the information reviewed.  

 

Quality assurance site visits consist of speaking to managers, staff, patients and visitors, 

observing practices and processes and examining pertinent records and documents. 

Feedback is given to the staff present at the time and in writing shortly after. All quality 

assurance site visit reports are subject to discussion at the Quality and Safeguarding 

Committee.    

 

Safeguarding  

The CCG publishes an annual report covering adults and children which is published on our 

website.  This is in addition to the annual safeguarding reports published by the Portsmouth 

Safeguarding Children Partnership and Portsmouth Safeguarding Adults Board.   The CCG 

has been an active partner developing the Portsmouth Safeguarding Children Partnership in 

collaboration with Hampshire Police, and Portsmouth City Council. The new arrangements 

were published within statutory time frames. 

 

In December 2019, Ofsted, the Care Quality Commission, HMI Constabulary and Fire and 

Rescue Services and HMI Probation carried out a Joint Targeted Area Inspection of the 

agencies involved in providing support to children in Portsmouth with a focus on Children’s 

Mental Health. Overall Portsmouth was identified as having good mental health services for 

our children – especially child and adolescent mental health services. 

 

In response to concerns about the quality of residential and nursing care in the city, the CCG 

and Portsmouth City Council recruited a joint team to work proactively with care providers to 

support quality improvement.  There has been an improvement in CQC ratings over the last 
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year. There has also been significant improvement in relationships with care providers and 

this is now being seen in improving quality of care. 

 

We continue in our aim to deliver a strong and effective quality function which, in increasing 

measures, is working more closely with patients, carers, voluntary groups, our communities 

and strategic health and social care commissioners and providers to deliver effective care 

and treatment and to minimise variation in the quality of services.  

Principles for Remedy – complaints handling 

We have in place policies for handling complaints and claims management (principles for 

remedy) that adhere to the six principles of good practice outlined in the HM Treasury 

Guidance on Managing Public Money (October 2007) as well as Health Services 

Parliamentary Ombudsman guidance on ‘Principles of Remedy’ (2010) and NHS England 

managing NHS complaints guidance. These are: 

 getting it right; 

 being customer focused; 

 being open and accountable; 

 acting fairly and proportionately; 

 putting things right; 

 seeking continuous improvement. 

This ensures that effective and timely investigations and response can be instigated for any 

claim, including allegations of negligence, public liability or personal injury and also works to 

reduce the occurrence of incidents and events, which may give rise to future claims. 

1.7 Engaging people and communities (Patient and Public 

Involvement) 
 

We have a duty under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (section 14Z2) to involve 

patients and members of the public in the planning, development and delivery of services 

that we commission.  

 

We take our responsibilities under this provision seriously and have undertaken a significant 

programme of engagement with local people over the past 12 months. We are committed to 

seeking people’s views and feedback on local health services as this enables us to develop 

plans and proposals for future development that fully take the experience of patients into 

account. We support the recommendations set out in the document Transforming 

Participation in Health and Care – ‘The NHS belongs to us all’, in letting local people know 

how we have gathered their views and taken them into account in our commissioning 

decisions.  

 

This not only applies to formal consultations on service changes, but to any activity where 

patients or the public are asked for their views on particular proposals or issues before a 

decision is made. We also recognise, and work to, the new guidance on Patient and public 

participation in commissioning health and care: Statutory guidance for CCGs and NHS 

England published in April 2017. 
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We are committed to continuing our dialogue with local people and sharing how we have 

listened to their feedback to improve local services and we are grateful to everyone who 

takes time to feed back their views to us, whether it is responding to one of our surveys, 

being a member of one of our engagement networks or engaging with us in other ways. 

 

To support our approach we have developed clear communications routes from the Patient 

Participation Groups run by each GP practice, through to the CCG’s Governing Board.  

 

Involving our general practice members, our patients, partners, health service providers and 

members of the public is central to our work. We involve patients, the public and 

stakeholders to inform and develop our plans through consultation and engagement. We try 

to find the most appropriate way of doing this either face-to-face or, for example, using 

online surveys that can also be made available in hard copy, other formats and alternative 

languages.  

 
Our member practices have Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) which patients from the 

practice are able to join to share their views about their practice as well as wider health 

services. Each Patient Participation Group is invited to be a member of our PPG network 

and we hold regular meetings between the CCG and the network with an agenda set by 

PPG members. The meetings are chaired by our lay member for patient engagement who is 

then able to feed back to the Governing Board. Board level responsibility for engagement 

rests with the Chief of Health and Care Portsmouth. 

We also value our links with Healthwatch Portsmouth which acts as the independent 

champion for health and social care in the city, making sure people can have their views and 

experiences heard by those who run, plan and watch over health and social care services. 

We have greatly appreciated, as always, the support and assistance offered by Healthwatch 

over the past year. We have also welcomed the work undertaken by the organisation to 

support local and regional work programmes to help us improve engagement but, more 

fundamentally, to help improve services for patients. 

We recognise the importance of finding the most appropriate ways of communicating with 

our different audiences to ensure we share our vision, plans and progress in a way that local 

people can fully understand and respond to. We routinely ask people to complete equality 

monitoring at our consultation and engagement events and as part of our surveys to help us 

understand how well we are reaching all communities.  

 

This has been a busy year for us in terms of seeking the views of our patients and residents 

about local services and the table that follows captures some of this activity. 
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Engagement 

programme 

Improving 

end of life 

care  

Across Portsmouth and south east Hampshire, we have been considering 

how well End of Life Care services work, and whether they could be 

improved. The intention is to examine the whole pathway, from diagnosis 

through to palliative care, rather than simply focus in on the final days and 

weeks of life. 

 

A survey was developed with patients and carers, and an initial data 

gathering exercise has been started to hear from patients, carers and 

staff what they think works well, and where improvements could be made.  

 

These initial findings will then help to inform workshops including patients 

and carers, which in turn will identify the work required to make positive 

changes. 

 

Engagement 

programme 

Long term 

conditions – 

using co-

production 

Traditionally, health and care organisations engage with people in a 

relatively time-limited way – people may be asked for their views on an 

issue, and then those views are taken away to be considered before 

decisions are made. However, there is a trend towards ‘co-design’, and 

‘co-production’ – effectively trying to involve people who have personal 

experience of an issue over a longer period of time, working with them as 

ongoing partners rather than as outsiders to be consulted once.  

 

This new approach has been tested in the lead-up to testing our new 

‘long-term conditions hub’ service in Portsmouth. The intention is to 

provide a new type of service to patients (essentially respiratory and 

diabetes patients drawn from two practices, for the purpose of the trial), 

which improves the education and testing they receive, and ensures that 

the support given to this group is of a high standard, no matter where 

they live in the city. 

 

We received help from NHS England in setting up our first ever strategic 

co-production working group – we were chosen because of our work to 

deliver personalised care, and to enable people to use personal health 

budgets.  

 

The first task agreed with the group was to develop a way of assessing 

how this new service worked for patients – using measurements which 

they felt were the most important, not just those the NHS could easily 

record.  

 

The co-production group has been meeting regularly throughout 2019, 

supported by NHS England and staff from both the CCG and Portsmouth 

City Council, and the evaluation tool they have developed will be used in 

the hub when it starts seeing its first patients. 
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Engagement 

programme  

Improving 

wheelchair 

services 

The CCG, working with South Eastern Hampshire and Fareham and 

Gosport CCGs, has been reviewing how wheelchair services for long-

term users are delivered in the area. The current service contract, ran 

until the end of March 2020. 

The CCGs have a strong desire to provide services in a different way and 

asked local people in 2018/19 for their views on what worked well with 

the current service, but also where it can be improved.  

As well as writing directly to service users registered, the survey was also 

promoted via the CCG websites, on social media, and shared with 

community support groups such as the Portsmouth Disability Forum, the 

MS Society and schools for children who have additional needs. Focus 

groups for people to give more of a qualitative view were also offered.  

Efficiency, continuity, accessibility, out of hours emergency support and 

the ability for existing users to self-refer were all important aspects of the 

feedback received. This has been built into the new contract specification 

with emergency provision available from 7am-11pm seven days a week. 

Nearly 400 people responded to the survey and feedback from this 

engagement activity was used to procure a new service in year which 

commenced in April 2020.  

Engagement 

programme  

Health and 

Care 

Portsmouth 

website 
Working with Portsmouth City Council and local partners, we have further 

developed our website, with supporting social media channels, in support 

of our Health and Care Portsmouth programme. 

 

The Health and Care Portsmouth website is deliberately designed around 

providing information in a simple, accessible way with a particular 

emphasis on improving our engagement opportunities with members of 

the public and service users in the city. It is a useful means of supporting 

our Big Health Conversation engagement work, which we have been 

running for a number of years, and encouraging people to get involved 

with the many projects taking place across Portsmouth.  

 

The site will increasingly provide a focal point for our joint engagement 

activity within the city which will increasingly come to the fore as the 

Health and Care Portsmouth programme evolves. You can find it at 

www.healthandcare.portsmouth.gov.uk and it is supported by Facebook 

and Twitter channels (facebook.com/HCPortsmouth or @HCPortsmouth) 

http://www.healthandcare.portsmouth.gov.uk/
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Engagement 

programme  

Different 

conversations 

A good example of how people can be engaged using the Health and 

Care Portsmouth approach has been through the Different Conversations 

engagement programme – the rationale behind the programme was 

essentially to see how ready people were to engage in discussions and 

decisions around their own health and wellbeing.  

 

Increasingly, there is a realisation that people who are well-informed, 

involved and motivated have a significant part to play in staying healthier, 

and managing their own conditions. This piece of work was developed to 

identify who is best placed to help themselves, with the tools they need to 

take control of their health. And for those less ready to do that, to look at 

how support can be personalised so that they are helped to take more 

ownership of their condition over time.  

 

A ‘Different Conversations’ survey was shared widely across Portsmouth. 

In total, 383 people responded to the ‘public version, answering the 13 

questions, and alongside this there was also a separate survey for 

members of staff.  

 

The survey findings – which are available online in summary form, broken 

down by postcode area – help to show how able people feel to control 

their healthcare (their “activation” level), and in turn this can guide 

frontline staff to tailor their support accordingly. 

 

Engagement 

programme  

Developing 

and 

improving 

NHS 111 

NHS111, ambulance services, GP services and community services are 

working even closer together to provide local people with the right care in 

the right place at the right time. Not everybody needs the same help 

when they call NHS111. One person may want to know where their local 

pharmacy is, another may need a community nurse and someone else 

may need to speak to a doctor. 

Working together we are developing access to healthcare professionals 

who can advise on the most appropriate clinical care, including callers 

with mental health problems, medication requirements and children’s 

health issues.  

We have also introduced NHS111 online as another way of using the 

service to make it easier for local people to get the urgent advice and 

support they need. We asked local people for their views, through an 

online survey, to help us consider how we can deliver the best possible 

service. 

The key themes from this engagement programme where respondents: 

 Value receiving advice from a clinician, especially one who 

can provide the specialist advice they need. 

 Think it is helpful to speak to a clinician before an ambulance 

is sent to them or they are advised to go to A&E, though a 

https://healthandcare.portsmouth.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Different-conversations-2019-results.pdf
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number of respondents raised concerns about this potentially 

delaying how quickly someone receives the care they need. 

 Generally think it is important that NHS111 staff, with their 

consent, are able to access and update their medical records. 

 Think it is important that NHS111 can directly book an 

appointment with their GP or another NHS service 

 

Just over half of respondents were aware of NHS111 with, again, just 

over half also saying they would use it in the future. 

 

The themes from this engagement are being taken into consideration as 

we develop the service and how we provide local people with care and 

advice when they need it urgently in the future. 

 

Engagement 

programme  

Non-

emergency 

patient 

transport 

review 

We are working with all of the CCGs across Hampshire to review the 

Non-Emergency Patient Transport Service (NEPTS) to see if 

improvements can be made to ensure it is being run in the most effective 

and efficient way for all the patients eligible to use it. 

All patients are normally expected to make their way to hospital or 

outpatient clinics for non-emergency appointments but the NEPTS 

service is provided free for the small minority of people registered with a 

GP practice who can’t travel to appointments independently on grounds 

of their medical condition only.  

We have sought the views of local people who use this valued service, or 

are a carer for someone who uses the service. We will be analysing and 

publishing the results early 2020/21 and the themes from these will be 

taken into consideration of the review work. 

Engagement 

programme  

Acting on 

patient 

feedback – 

our PPG 

network 

We continue to meet with representatives from many of the Patient 

Participation Groups in the city at our regular PPG Network. This provides 

an opportunity for PPG members to set the agenda and find out more 

about health topics and interests. 

The events in the past year have been held in May and October and gave 

members the opportunity to hear about, and ask questions and give 

feedback on: 

 The NHS long term plan 

 Carer friendly practices 

 Primary care networks 

 Digital support for primary care such as the NHS app. 

 

The sessions are well supported and feedback captured valuable to the 

CCG in taking forward service developments, particularly in the field of 

primary care. Details are available here: 

https://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/Join-In/ppg-network.htm 

 

https://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/Join-In/ppg-network.htm
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Every year we publish a Listening to our Patients report into our engagement activity in 

response to our Health and Social Care Act duty and this is available on our website. 

Staff engagement within the CCG  

We continue to use our intranet as a primary means of communication with our staff. We 

publish several articles a week focusing on a range of matters covering CCG business, 

individual news such as charity fundraising, local and national news. These are summarised 

in a weekly digest email.  

A number of policies and procedures have been reviewed by the Staff Engagement Group 

prior to being approved and launched to staff. This has included: 

 Absence Management Policy 

 Flexible Working Policy and Guidance 

 Special Leave Policy 

 Shared Parental Leave Policy 

 Organisational Change Policies 

 Guidance on the Working Times Regulations 

 Relocation Policy 

 Staff Learning Agreement 

 Maximising Success and Potential Policy 

 Pay Progression Guidance 

 Whistleblowing and Freedom To Speak Up Policy 

The electronic staff handbook continues to be updated and refreshed and overseen by the 

group and is available via our intranet for all staff to access as and when they wish. 

We have continued with our programme of team briefing following the successful trial at the 

end of 2018/19. These are short focused sessions to provide information to staff and they 

remain well attended. As well as an opportunity to provide key headlines and information 

from the CCG each event also provides focused ‘huddles’ about specific elements of the 

CCG work and/or teams. These have included: 

 Human Resources 

 Big Health Conversation engagement programme 

 Primary care networks 

 Health and Care Portsmouth 

 Medicines Management 

 Integrated Urgent Care 

Topic-based ‘lunch and learn’ sessions have continued to be scheduled throughout the year 

coordinated by our quality team. We have also provided staff with access to flu vaccinations 

clinics.  

The CCG’s individual performance review and personal development process policy was re-

written and the record keeping requirements reduced. The policy was updated to link to pay 

progression requirements in respect of Agenda for Change. Feedback on the new approach 

https://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/Board/Gov%20Board%20Papers/2019/September%202019/AI10%20Patient%20Engagment%20Annual%20Report%20GB180919.pdf
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will be sought via the staff engagement group following the next Individual Performance 

Review annual round in the 2020/21 financial year. 

The CCG’s statutory and mandatory training requirements have been reviewed throughout 

the year and been updated to reflect changing requirements.  

Staff are invited to make suggestions and comments. Suggestions made by staff either 

direct to staff engagement group members or via the suggestion box are considered each 

time the staff engagement group meets.  

Staff engagement representatives continue to review arrangements with their teams on a 

regular basis and have been feeding back issues for discussion and solution. Issues and 

changes discussed have included: changes to hot desk arrangements, the relocation of the 

Health and Care Portsmouth commissioning team to the CCG offices, access and locations 

of bins and recycling receptacles, fire evacuation arrangements and arrangements for 

visitors. 

Our CCG staff supported a number of charities during the course of the year through a 

variety of ways including regular dress down days – this has meant we have raised around 

£700 this year.  

 

1.8 Reducing health inequality 

Equality and diversity is a core part of our work in ensuring equality of access to, and 

treatment by, the services that we commission on behalf of the population of Portsmouth. 

Our commitment to equality and diversity is driven by the principles of the NHS Constitution, 

the Equality Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998, and also the duties of the Health and 

Social Care Act 2012 (section 14T) to reduce health inequalities, promote patient 

involvement and involve and consult with the public.  

The specific duties of the Equality Act 2010 require public bodies to publish relevant 

proportionate information showing how they meet the General Equality Duty by 31 January 

each year.  In addition, they require public bodies to set specific measurable equality 

objectives by 6 April every four years from 2012.  Both general and specific duties are known 

as the Public Sector Equality Duties (PSED).   

As a statutory public body, we must ensure we meet these legal obligations and, by 

publishing annual equality information, demonstrate how the organisation has used the 

Equality Duty as part of the process of decision making in relation to service delivery, 

provision of information and communication and engagement.   

Our workforce 

The CCG completes an annual assessment against the NHS Workforce Race Equality 

Standard (WRES).   

This is in line with the CCG Assessment and Improvement Framework and demonstrates 

good leadership to the organisations from which the CCGs commission services.  We have 

re-measured our compliance with the Workforce Race Equality Standard. Owing to the size 
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of the workforce and in accordance with data protection legislation, this information is not in 

the public domain.   Actions are identified and taken forward internally and information 

relating to the annual completion of the Workforce Race Equality Standard is reported to 

NHS England https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/equality-standard/ 

Each member of staff can self-administer their record on the Electronic Staff Record (ESR) 

system, and is encouraged to do so. This is because the CCG recognises that individual 

circumstances can change and people may begin or cease to identify with certain 

characteristics.  This may relate to pregnancy or maternity or because an individual has 

become disabled.   

The information is used collectively and anonymously to inform internal workforce monitoring 

and ensure no protected characteristic is disadvantaged in the experience of the workforce.  

Protected characteristics that are recorded in all cases are age and sex.  The option is also 

available for staff to record disability, ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation and marital status.   

Our Human Resources Policies govern our employees’ rights not to be discriminated against 

at work. These policies include: Absence Management, Adoption Leave, Annual Leave, 

Disciplinary, Disclosure and Barring, Employee Over Payment and Underpayment, Exit 

Interviews, Flexible Working, Grievance, Bullying and Harassment, Health and Safety, 

Maternity Leave and Pay, Maximising Success and Potential, Organisational Change, 

Paternity Leave and Pay, Performance Management, Recruitment and Selection, Re-

deployment, Redundancy, Relocation, Shared Parental Leave and Pay, Special Leave, 

Statutory and Mandatory Training, Substance Misuse, Travel Loans and Whistleblowing/ 

Freedom to Speak Up. Organisational policies are available for staff to access easily on our 

intranet.  

Staff undertake essential training on equality and diversity through an e-learning programme. 

Managers are encouraged to promote a culture where equality and diversity is part of the 

everyday business of the CCG.  

Embedding equality in the commissioning cycle 

Completion of equality impact assessments (EIAs) is integral to our project management 

procedure.  During 2019 commissioning project planning guidance was updated to include 

new planning procedures to support system working across partners in Portsmouth and 

South East Hampshire.   

The 2019 guidance covers all aspects of the project planning process including completion 

of Equality, Quality and Privacy Impact Assessments. All completed forms are uploaded to 

our electronic project management system which is administered by our Planning and 

Performance Team. 

Our equalities lead meets monthly with the Planning and Performance Team administrator to 

review projects and plans and follow up with individual members of staff as required. 

Our equality objectives 

We have identified four objectives to support our approach to equality and diversity. The 

information below provides an update on progress to meet these objectives. 
  

https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/equality-standard/
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Objective 1:  

Improve access to 

healthcare for 

everyone routinely 

and when they 

need medical help 

fast but it is not a 

life-threatening 

situation.   

 

The CCG continues to work with partner organisations on new 

models of care to remove the traditional boundaries between 

primary care, community health, social care and hospital services.   

Efficient access and effective clinical assessment at the first point of 

contact are being addressed. In Portsmouth particular attention has 

been given to the development of a 24-hour Integrated Primary 

Care Service, community care and system wide Integrated Urgent 

Care.  

 

As part of this work, a new contract has been agreed with 

Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance to continue to provide a single 

integrated primary care service.  The service covers:  out of hours 

which includes a Clinical Assessment Service for Portsmouth, Acute 

Visiting and GP Enhanced Access.  

 

This has allowed joint working by the different agencies that may be 

involved in a patient’s care and makes it easier for people to have 

same day and routine appointments at their surgery.  It also means 

that people with complex health problems can receive care from the 

most appropriate health care professional to meet their needs.   

 

To support seamless patient care, the same IT software is now 

being used by community and mental health teams run by Solent 

NHS Trust, Portsmouth City Council Adult Social Care and 

Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance as well as all GP surgeries 

across the city. 

 

Objective 2: 

Strengthen our 

consultation and 

engagement to 

ensure all protected 

characteristics have 

a voice in our work.   

 

During 2019/20 we have: 

 Considered impact on the nine protected characteristics as 

part of Quality Impact Assessments and how any negative 

impacts may be mitigated or removed. 

 Completed detailed Equality Impact Assessments with 

evidence of patient and public engagement, working in 

partnership with local people to transform and develop 

healthcare services that meet the needs of the communities 

we serve.   

We have also encouraged local people to complete equalities 

monitoring as part of our engagement work, built on engagement 

mechanisms to ensure local people from all communities are able to 

share their views.  This includes: 

 Proactive reference to the availability of alternative formats 

in engagement materials, including surveys.  These include:  

Easy Read, audio format and languages other than English. 

 Proactive reference to the availability of communication 

support at engagement events, including loop systems, and 
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interpreters if required.  

Objective 3:  

Strengthen 

commissioning and 

partnership working 

so that the 

communities we 

service feel 

informed and 

supported to be as 

involved as they 

wish to be in 

decisions about 

their care. 

 

We have been pursuing a number of approaches over the past 

year, including these two examples: 

 

Mental health crisis and rehabilitation services: significant 

engagement has been undertaken with service users in the 

development of both these important services.  There has been a 

great deal of positive feedback about the service and frontline 

workers as well as some other more challenging themes.   

 

The work has allowed a new focus on the ways in which people 

access community mental health services.  The result is a 

commitment to a fundamental overhaul of the way local teams work. 

 

Long term conditions, using co-production:  this new approach 

has been tested in the lead up to testing a new long term conditions 

hub service in Portsmouth.  The intention is to provide a new type of 

service to patients and essentially to respiratory and diabetes 

patients drawn from two practices for the purpose of the trial.   

 

More information about this approach can be found in the 

Engagement section of this report (1.7) on page 30.   

 

Objective 4: Ensure 

staff are aware of 

the availability of 

family friendly 

arrangements in 

line with the 

Equality Act 2010 

and the range of 

HR mechanisms 

and support 

available to ensure 

everyone feels fee 

from abuse, 

harassment, 

bullying and 

violence from any 

source. 

When a human resources policy is due for renewal and/or updated 

the Staff Engagement Group is involved in consultation and review 

of any proposed amendments.   

 

The role of each representative on the Staff Engagement Group is 

to consult with their teams about updates and proposed changes.  

Once a policy has been reviewed and finalised the Staff 

Engagement Group is notified and each representative feeds back 

to their team.  

 

The CCG’s executive team will also cascade information and 

updates to their teams.  Amendments to existing policies and new 

policies are available on the CCG’s intranet. Staff awareness is 

reinforced through news items via the staff intranet.   

 

During 2019 annual review and cascade to staff was undertaken on 

the following policies:  

 Shared parental leave policy  

 Special leave – to include provisions for child bereavement 

leave in according with updated NHS Terms and Conditions 

of Service. 

 Whistleblowing Policy – to include how to raise a concern 

under the Freedom to Speak Up initiative. 



 Page 40  

 
 

 

 

 

Monitoring contracts with NHS provider organisations 

Compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty of the Equality Act 2010 is an important 

element in the monitoring of our contracts with NHS organisations from which we 

commissioning services for our population. Equality metrics are included in annual review of 

contracts and reports and updates are received and discussed as part of formal monthly and 

quarterly contract review meetings.  The main providers are: 

 Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust 

 Solent NHS Trust 

 South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust. 

 Care UK which runs St Mary’s NHS Treatment Centre. 

 Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance. 

 

1.9 Health and wellbeing strategy  
Portsmouth’s Health and Wellbeing Board sets the strategic outcomes for the city’s health 

and social care. These outcomes incorporate the findings from our ongoing Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment (JSNA) and take account of feedback from people in the city, users of 

our services and their representatives as well as national and local evidence.  

 

We are an active equal partner within the Health and Wellbeing Board and this has included 

ensuring our joint health and wellbeing strategy remains current and relevant. We work 

closely with members of the Health and Wellbeing Board in developing and implementing 

the Health and Care Portsmouth programme. 

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board, and its membership, has also taken a keen interest in the 

Sustainability and Transformation Plan for Hampshire and the Isle of Wight, which sets the 

framework through which the Health and Care Portsmouth programme can be delivered and 

also shares a number of goals with the Board’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The strategy 

is built around four themes, each with a set of priorities: 
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Health and Wellbeing Board strategy priorities 

Theme Priorities 

Support physical good health - Reduce the harms from tobacco and other 
substances; 

- Reduce the harms from physical inactivity and 
poor diets; 

- Focus on good physical health in children and 
young people. 

Support social, emotional, mental 
and economic health 

- Promote positive mental wellbeing across 
Portsmouth; 

- Reduce the drivers of isolation and exclusion. 

Make improvements for 
marginalised groups fastest 

- People with complex needs; 
- People in the armed forces community; 
- Children and people with special educational 

needs and disabilities and their families; 
- Looked after children and care leavers. 

Improve access to health and social 
care support in the community 

- Implementation of the Portsmouth Blueprint 
for Health and Care. 

 

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are also involved in our CCG business. Some 

are members of our Governing Board and Primary Care Commissioning Committee which 

enables us to involve them formally in our planning and reporting procedures including this 

report, in accordance with Section 14Z15 of the NHS Act 2006. 

 

1.10 Social matters, human rights, anti-corruption and anti-bribery 
The CCG is committed to making progress on all social and environmental matters, and 

human rights and their associated regulations and guidance. The CCG is also committed to 

reducing the level of fraud, bribery and corruption within the NHS to an absolute minimum 

and maintaining it at that level. By doing this, valuable resources can then be used where 

they should be, delivering better patient care. 

The CCG is a GP-led organisation, responsible for planning, commissioning and designing 

many of the health services needed by the area’s population.  

The CCG makes decisions about health services based on the feedback we receive from 

patients and carers. This ensures the services we purchase and re-design are the ones local 

residents inform us that they need and are able to access. 

The CCG is committed to making sure that there is equality and inclusion in everything that 

we do, but more specifically: 

 How we commission services on behalf of the population we serve; 

 How we recruit and support the development of all of our staff; 

 How we proactively engage and support everyone who uses our services, especially 

given the diversity of our population. 

Our work in embedding equality into the commissioning of health services is underpinned by 

regularly engaging with our stakeholders. We believe that engagement with, and drawing on 

the expertise of, residents, patients, services providers and third sector organisations, is 
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critical.  This interaction helps us to shape top quality, value for money services that satisfy 

the needs of our diverse population. 

Anti-corruption and bribery 

The CCG is committed to reducing the level of fraud, bribery and corruption within the NHS 

to an absolute minimum and keeping it at that level, freeing up public resources for better 

patient care. The CCG has a zero tolerance policy of any fraud, bribery or corruption and 

aims to eliminate all such activity as far as possible. 

The Local Area Counter-Fraud Team is active in the prevention and deterrence of fraud, 

bribery and corruption through its attendance at the Audit Committee, involvement in policy-

setting and sharing of information through newsletters and attendance at CCG meetings.  

The CCG has established a positive training and awareness culture to ensure all staff 

receive regular training and newsletters provided by the Local Counter-Fraud Team.  

There were no cases of fraud brought to the attention of the committee during the year. 

1.11 Conclusion to performance report 
In my opinion this report gives an accurate perspective of the performance of the CCG 

between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2020. 

 

 

Dr Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer  

24 June 2020 
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SECTION 2 ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 

This Accountability Report has two main sections: 

 

PART A Corporate Governance Report – including Members’ Report and 
Governance statement 

PART B Remuneration and Staff Report 

 
The CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. 

Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and 

charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report at Section 6. An 

audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 78. 

 
 

Dr Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer  

24 June 2020 
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SECTION 2 PART A:  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
This Corporate Governance Report includes our Members’ report, the Statement of 

Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities (2.10) and our Governance Statement (2.11). 
 

2.1 Members’ report 
This section of the report contains information about our membership, the way we work as a 

CCG and some of our legal responsibilities. 

 

2.2 Member profiles 
The CCG is the clinically led commissioning organisation for Portsmouth City, working to 

boundaries coterminous with Portsmouth City Council, and with a registered population of 

around 224,500.  

 

We were authorised in December 2012 and started our first full year of operation on April 

2013 fully authorised, without conditions. 

 

The CCG is constituted by its 15 member GP Practices and is run on their behalf by a 

Governing Body (known locally as a Governing Board). We are strongly clinically led by a 

team elected GPs, with a Clinical Leader Dr Linda Collie, who is also substantively 

appointed as our Accountable Officer, and a Clinical Chair, Dr Elizabeth Fellows.  

 

Information about our leadership team can be found in the following sections. 

 

2.3 Our membership 
At the end of 2019/20 we had 15 member practices. The table that follows shows our 

membership position as at 31st March 2020. 
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CCG member practices 

Member (Contract) Provider & Provider Address Providing services at: 

 

Derby Road Group 

Practice 

Derby Road Group Practice 

27-29 Derby Road North End PO2 8HP 

27-29 Derby Road 

358 Copnor Road  

Sunnyside Medical 

Centre 

Sunnyside Medical Centre 

The Pompey Centre Fratton Way PO4 8TA 

Sunnyside Medical 

Centre 

East Shore 

Partnership 

East Shore Partnership  

St Cuthbert’s Church Hayling Ave PO3 6BH 

St Cuthbert’s Church 

Milton Road  

John Pounds 

Medical Centre 

John Pounds Medical Centre 

3 Aylward Street Portsea PO1 3DU 

3 Aylward Street 

Lake Road Practice Lake Road Practice 

Nutfield Place PO1 4JT 

Lake Road Practice 

 

Trafalgar Medical 

Group Practice 

Trafalgar Medical Group Practice  

25 Osborne Road PO5 3ND 

25 Osborne Road 

Eastney Health Centre  

The Drayton 

Surgery 

The Drayton Surgery 

280 Havant Road PO6 1PA 

280 Havant Road 

1 Wootton Street 

The Lighthouse 

Group Practice 

Southsea Medical Centre 

Carlisle Road PO5 1AT 

 

Devonshire Practice 

262 Devonshire Avenue PO4 9EH 

Southsea Medical 

Centre 

 

 

Devonshire Practice 

 

The University 

Surgery 

Drs Lawson & Alalade  

The Nuffield Centre St Michael’s Road PO1 

2BH 

The Nuffield Centre 

Hanway Group 

Practice 

Hanway Group Practice 

2 Hanway Road PO1 4ND 

2 Hanway Road 

81 Stubbington Avenue 

Kirklands Surgery Kirklands Surgery 

111 Copnor Road PO3 5AF 

111 Copnor Road 

North Harbour 

Medical Group 

North Harbour Medical Group 

The Cosham Health Centre Vectis Way 

PO6 3AW 

The Cosham Health 

Centre 

Portsdown Group 

Practice 

Portsdown Group Practice 

92 Kingston Crescent North End PO2 8AL 

Cosham Park House 

Surgery 

Crookhorn Surgery 

3 Heyward Road  

92 Kingston Crescent  

194 Allaway Avenue 

Somerstown Central 

Health Centre 

Guildhall Walk 

Healthcare Centre  

Partnering Health Limited (PHL) 

27 Guildhall Walk PO1 2DD  

27 Guildhall Walk  

Craneswater Group 

Practice 

Craneswater Group Practice  

34-36 Waverley Road PO5 2PW 

34-36 Waverley Road 

Salisbury Road  
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2.4 Composition of Governing Body 

The Governing Board has had the following composition from 1 April 2019 to 31st March 

2020: 

 Dr Linda Collie, Clinical Leader and Accountable Officer (Chief Clinical Officer) 

 Dr Elizabeth Fellows, Chair of the Governing Board (also a clinical executive) 

 Karen Atkinson. Registered Nurse Representative 

 Dr Carsten Lesshafft, Clinical Executive (started 1 July 2019) 

 Margaret Geary, Lay Member 

 Dr Jason Horsley, Director of Public Health, Portsmouth City Council (left October 

2019) 

 Graham Love, Lay Member 

 Dr Nick Moore, Clinical Executive as representative of member practices 

 Jackie Powell, Lay Member 

 Innes Richens – Chief of Health & Care Portsmouth 

 David Scarborough, Practice Manager representative of member practices  

 Andy Silvester, Lay Member 

 Dr Simon Simonian, Clinical Executive (started 1 July 2019) 

 Michelle Spandley - Chief Finance Officer 

 Tahwinder Upile -  Secondary Care Specialist Doctor Lay Representative 

 David Williams - Chief Executive, Portsmouth City Council 

 

The gender split of the Governing Board at the start of the year:  

Females = 6, Males = 8 (Director of Public Health left October 2019) 

The gender split of the Governing Board at the end of the year:  

Females = 6, Males = 9 (two new Clinical Executives started in July 2019) 

 

There is only 1 Female Senior Manager who is not a member of the Governing Board 

 

CCG Staff gender breakdown for those not already included above: 

Gender Number % of total 
headcount 

Female 67 71.2 

Male 21 28.8 

Grand Total 88 100.0 

 

2.5 Statutory Committee information 

Audit Committee 1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020: 

 Andy Silvester, Lay Member (and Audit Committee Chair) 

 Jackie Powell, Lay Member 

 Graham Love, Lay Member 

 Karen Atkinson, Governing Board Nurse Representative 
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The Remuneration Committee membership 1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020: 

 Graham Love, Lay Member (and Remuneration Committee Chair) 

 Jackie Powell, Lay Member 

 Andy Silvester, Lay Member  

 Mr Tahwinder Upile, Secondary Care Doctor on the Governing Board 

 Dr Elizabeth Fellows, Clinical Chair of the Governing Board 

 

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee membership 1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020: 

 Margaret Geary, Lay Member (Chair) 

 Mark Compton, Deputy Director of Transformation 

 Simon Cooper, Deputy Director of Medicines Optimization 

 Jason Eastman, Associate Director of IM&T 

 Dr Jason Horsley, Director of Public Health (left October 2019) 

 Jackie Powell, Lay Member 

 Suzannah Rosenberg, Director of Transition (moved off Committee in August 2019) 

 Terri Russell, Deputy Director of Primary Care 

 David Scarborough, Practice Manager Representative 

 Dr Clare Seiber, Local Medical Committee Representative (started October 2019) 

 Andy Silvester, Lay Member 

 Michelle Spandley, Chief Finance Officer 

 Dr Nigel Watson, Local Medical Committee Representative (moved off Committee 

October 2019) 

 Jo York, Director of New Models of Care. 

 

Further details about our Governing Board and Senior Managers, including membership of, 

and attendance at, committees can be found in our Governance Statement along with 

information on the purpose of each committee. 

 

2.6 Register of Interests 

The CCG maintains two Registers of Interest, one detailing committee membership 

(including administrative support) which is published on the CCG website on a quarterly 

basis. The other, includes all remaining staff employed by the CCG and is published on the 

website on an annual basis. These can be found at the following link. 

https://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/About-Us/What-we-do/lists-and-registers.htm 

 

2.7 Personal Data Related Incidents 

There have been no personal data related incidents reported to the information 

commissioner’s office during the 2019/20 financial year. 

 

 

 

https://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/About-Us/What-we-do/lists-and-registers.htm
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2.8 Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 

Each individual who is a member of the CCG Governing Board at the time of writing the 

Members’ Report has confirmed:  

 so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 

CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report  

 the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make 

him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s 

auditor is aware of it.  

2.9 Modern Slavery Act 

The CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and 

human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and 

Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.  

 

 

 

 

Dr Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer  

24 June 2020 
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2.10 Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 

Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed 

by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has appointed the Chief 

Clinical Officer to be the Accountable Officer of the CCG. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group 

Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include responsibilities for:  

 The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer 

is answerable,  

 For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 

any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them 

to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),  

 For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking 

reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities). 

 The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money, 

 Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in 

accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) 

and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in 

accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)), 

 Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J 

of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each 

Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the 

form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are 

prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 

Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and 

cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 

requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and in 

particular to: 

 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 

accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies 

on a consistent basis; 

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group 

Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care have 

been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial 

statements; and, 

 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosures set out below, I have 

properly discharged the responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 

(as amended), Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group 

Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

Disclosures: Nil 

I also confirm that:  

 as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s 

auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I 

ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to 

establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.  

 that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable 

and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the 

judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable  

 

 

 

Dr Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer  

24 June 2020 
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

2.11 Introduction and context 

NHS Portsmouth CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 

under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 

The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health 

Service Act 2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of 

services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.  The CCG is, in 

particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it 

considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.   

 

As at 1 April 2019, the CCG has not been subject to any directions from NHS England 

issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 

Details about the CCG can be found at: http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/ 

 

2.12 Scope of responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 

control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims 

and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 

responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public 

Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 

Appointment Letter. 

 

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently 

and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding 

financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of 

the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this 

governance statement. 

 

2.13 Governance arrangements and effectiveness 

The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 

arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 

economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as 

are relevant to it. 

The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, culture and values by which 

the CCG is directed and controlled. Governance arrangements are identified within the 

CCG’s Constitution and associated documents including the Scheme of Reservation and 

Delegation, Standing Orders, Financial Policies and Corporate Policies. Collectively these 

documents detail the role and responsibility of Governing Board members and employees of 

http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/
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the CCG along with the arrangements for conducting business through the Governing Board, 

its Committees and sub-committees. 

Whilst there are a number of elected Governing Board GP members, additional roles have 

been developed by the members, enhancing and shaping the CCG’s accountability 

framework. These roles include: 

 Practice Commissioning Lead GPs 

 Practice Prescribing Lead GPs 

 Practice Lead Managers 

In this way the CCG has continued to gain involvement from a broader membership of 

primary care in developing and delivering its work programme than just those members 

involved in the work of the Governing Board. 

The CCG continues to abide by, and amend, its Constitution to reflect the changing NHS 

landscape. 

Terms of reference are in place and kept under review for each of the Governing Board’s 

committees and sub-committees. Each Governing Board, committee and sub-committee 

meeting has formal minutes which set out both the attendance of members and the 

coverage of their work. It is through this structure that the CCG continues to: 

 agree its commissioning strategies, financial strategies and supporting operating 

plans; 

 ensure the CCG meets its statutory duties in respect of such requirements of the 

management of Conflicts of Interest, equality and diversity, information governance 

and working in partnership with the Local Authority via the Health and Wellbeing 

Board and jointly funded posts sitting across both the CCG and City Council; 

 put in place and monitor effectiveness of the CCG’s policies and procedures; and 

 develop plans for service review and transformation and oversee their 

implementation and evaluation. 

Information about the Committees of the CCG is detailed in the following sections. 
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Summary of the Coverage of the Work of the CCG Governing Board and Committees 

Governing Board 

 
The Governing Board has delegated authority from its members to undertake the full range of functions required of a CCG.  

 

It has a focus on corporate and financial governance, risk management as well as setting vision and strategy and approving commissioning 

plans prepared for it. It also ensures the CCG meets its legal and statutory requirements. The constitution sets out the following functions:  

 ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in 

accordance with the CCG’s principles of good governance (its main function); 

 ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise any functions formally delegated to it by NHS England under 

section 13Z of the 2012 Act as set out in agreed delegation agreements; 

 determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees or other persons providing services to the CCG and the 

allowances payable under any pension scheme it may establish under paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 1A of the 2006 Act, inserted by 

Schedule 2 of the 2012 Act; 

 approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations; 

 leading the setting of vision and strategy; 

 approving commissioning plans including the production of annual plan; 

 monitoring performance against plans and producing an annual report; 

 ensuring that expenditure and use of resources do not exceed the limits set; 

 providing assurance of strategic risk; 

 producing an annual report; 

 oversight of declaration and registration of interests and management of conflicts of interest; 

 working with NHS England to improve the quality of primary medical services, particularly to take account of need and unexpressed 

demand; 

 working with NHS England to improve the quality of specialist services; and 

 working with the Local Authority on health promotion, prevention and protection matters and as part of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
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Audit Committee Remuneration 
Committee 

Quality & Safeguarding Committee Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee 

The Audit Committee supports 
the Governing Board in 
discharging its functions related to 
overseeing efficiency, 
effectiveness, economy and 
governance. The Committee 
reviews the establishment and 
maintenance of an effective 
system of integrated governance, 
risk management and internal 
control, across the whole of the 
CCG’s activities that support the 
achievement of the CCG’s 
objectives.  
 
This includes providing the 
Governing Board with an 
independent and objective view of 
the CCG’s financial systems, 
financial information and 
compliance with laws, regulations 
and directions governing the CCG 
in so far as they relate to finance. 

The Remuneration 
Committee makes 
recommendations to the 
Governing Board on 
determinations about the 
remuneration, fees and 
other allowances for 
employees and for 
people who provide 
services to the CCG and 
on determinations about 
allowances under any 
pension scheme that the 
CCG may establish as 
an alternative to the NHS 
pension scheme. 

The Quality and Safeguarding 
Committee supports the Governing 
Board in commissioning effective and 
safe services that provide a positive 
experience of healthcare for patients. 
 
The committee supports the Governing 
Board in fulfilling its responsibilities to 
safeguard vulnerable adults and 
children through formal arrangements 
and requirements as set out in quality 
and safeguarding legislation. 
 
Furthermore, the committee reviews 
and escalates issues and risks relating 
to quality and safeguarding through 
systems and processes which enable 
the CCG to deliver its strategic 
framework for quality and 
safeguarding. 

The Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee (PCCC) has been 
delegated the exercise of the following 
functions by NHS England: 

 GMS, PMS and APMS contracts 
(including the design of PMS and 
APMS contracts, monitoring of 
contracts, taking contractual action 
such as issuing branch remedial 
notices and removing a contract) 

 Newly designed enhanced 
services (Local Enhanced Services 
and Directed Enhanced Services) 

 Design of local incentive schemes 
as an alternative to the Quality 
Outcomes Framework (QOF) 

 The establishment of new GP 
practices in the geographical area 

 Approving practice mergers 

 Making decision on ‘discretionary’ 
payment. 

During 2019-20 NHS England notified 
the CCG of their intention to further 
delegate a number of functions. 
These were overseen by the PCCC. 

 

The Governing Board reviews its effectiveness, in partnership with its Membership Body, during the course of the year as set out within its 

governance strategy and plans and through its programmes of audit and scrutiny. In addition, internal audits have been undertaken to seek 

further assurance regarding the CCG’s arrangements for the discharge of its statutory duties and to ensure it is legally compliant. The 

Governing Board has kept under review its performance and effectiveness during the year involving members, stakeholders and the public 

through a range of mechanisms including surveys and face to face contact. 
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Attendance at meetings 2019/20 

The tables below show participation and attendance for the year at the CCG’s Governing Board and supporting Committees; Audit Committee, 

Remuneration Committee, Quality & Safeguarding Committee and Primary Care Commissioning Committee. 

 

Key: 

 In attendance D Deputy Attendance A Apologies N/A No longer attends or left organisation  No Meeting 

 

Governing Board - Attendance Log 

Member Name Position 
May 
19 

Jul 
19 

Sep 
19 

Nov 
19 

Jan 
20 

March 
20 

Karen Atkinson Registered Nurse  A  A   

Dr Linda Collie Chief Clinical Officer/Clinical Leader  A     

Dr Elizabeth Fellows Chair of Governing Board/Clinical Executive     A A 

Margaret Geary Lay Member   A    

Dr Jason Horsley Director of Public Health, Portsmouth City 
Council 

 A A A N/A N/A 

Alison Jeffery Director of Children’s Services       

Dr Carsten Lesshafft Clinical Executive N/A    A A 

Graham Love Lay Member       

Dr Nick Moore Clinical Executive  A     

Jackie Powell Lay Member      Chair 

Innes Richens Chief of Health and Care Portsmouth    A   

David Scarborough Practice Manager Representative   A    

Andy Silvester Lay Member  A     

Dr Simon Simonian Clinical Executive N/A  A  A A 

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer       

Dr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Specialist Doctor A      

David Williams Chief Executive, Portsmouth City Council A   A   

 



 Page 56  

 
 

 

Audit Committee - Attendance Log 

Member Name Position 
May 
19 

Sept 
19 

Dec 
19 

March 
20 

Karen Atkinson Registered Nurse N/A    

Graham Love Lay Member     

Jackie Powell Lay Member   
 

(Chair) 
 

Andy Silvester Lay Member (Chair)   A  

 
Remuneration Committee - Attendance Log 

Member Name Position 
Jul  
19 

Jan 
20 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows Chair of Governing Board/Clinical Executive   

Graham Love Lay Member   

Jackie Powell Lay Member   

Andy Silvester Lay Member   

Dr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Specialist Doctor   

 
Quality and Safeguarding Committee - Attendance Log 
Member Name Position Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Karen Atkinson Registered Nurse    A    A    C 
A 
N 
C 
E 
L 
L 
E 
D 
 

Dr Linda Collie   Chief Clinical Officer/ 
Clinical Leader 

  A A    A    

Margaret Geary Lay Member   A         

Katie Hovenden  Clinical Associate            

Innes Richens Chief of Health & Care 
Portsmouth 

           

Suzannah 
Rosenberg 

Director of Quality and 
Commissioning 

   N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A  N/A 

Tina Scarborough Deputy Director of Quality 
& Safeguarding 

     A      
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee - Attendance Log 

Member Name Position 
Apr 
19 

Jun 
19 

Aug  
19 

Oct 
19 

Dec 
19 

Jan 
20 

Mar 
20 

Margaret Geary Lay Member (Chair)        

Mark Compton Deputy Director of Transformation A   A    

Simon Cooper Director of Medicines Optimisation  A  A  A A 

Jason Eastman Associate Director of IM&T    A    

Dr Jason Horsley Director of Public Health, Portsmouth City 
Council 

A A A A  N/A N/A 

Jackie Powell Lay Member        

Suzannah Rosenberg Director of Transition   N/A N/A  N/A N/A 

Terri Russell Deputy Director of Primary Care        

David Scarborough Practice Manager Representative   A   A  

Dr Clare Sieber Local Medical Committee Representative N/A N/A N/A     

Andy Silvester Lay Member   A A  A A 

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer A A A A  A  

Dr Nigel Watson Local Medical Committee Representative  A A N/A  N/A N/A 

Jo York  Director of New Models of Care   A     
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2.14 UK Corporate Governance Code 

The CCG is not required to comply with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance.  

 

2.15 Discharge of Statutory Functions 

In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has 

reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can 

confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements 

associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any 

restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.  

Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and 

capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties. 

2.16 Risk management arrangements and effectiveness  

Risk management is recognised as being everybody’s business and is embedded in all the 

CCG’s activities. Equality impact assessments are incorporated into all relevant 

commissioning plans and policies. Consultation and engagement is undertaken with staff, 

subject matter experts and stakeholders in the development of individual’s aspects of the 

CCG’s work. Incident reporting in relation to both the CCG as a statutory organisation and 

employer as well as a commissioner of services is encouraged from staff and other 

stakeholders in line with the CCG policies and approach to risk. 

2.17 Capacity to handle risk and risk assessment  

The CCG has outlined its approach to risk and has a supporting risk management 

framework.  The approach to risk recognises that living with, and understanding risk is an 

everyday part of our commissioning responsibilities. Risk is an inevitable part of managing 

healthcare but it must be managed in such a way that the consequences of commissioning 

decisions can be properly understood before they are made.  

 

The CCG’s approach is to develop a balanced and proportionate approach to risk 

management which is substantively robust whilst not unnecessarily bureaucratic – balancing 

the CCG’s obligations to exercise safely, efficiently and economically, with its duties to drive 

improvements in services, promote innovation, and reduce inequalities. Our risk 

management framework sets out our risk appetite which is driven by the values and 

behaviours agreed by the Governing Board. From the Governing Board, through our 

committees and onwards to our staff we have clearly understood protocols for the reporting 

and management of risk. The CCG’s Governing Board reviewed its risk appetite against the 

current strategic objectives and no change was made. 

 

The Governing Board retain oversight of the Assurance Framework however risks are now 

also identified, reported and scrutinised as part of the Performance, Finance and Quality 

reporting arrangements along with the Governing Board Assurance Framework (GBAF) and 
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Corporate Risk Register which is presented at Governing Board, the Audit Committee and 

operational management group meetings. This ensures that the identification and 

management of risk is ‘live’ and continues to remain a high priority for the organisation. 

Committees and groups oversee risk registers and named individuals have responsibility for 

the day to day management of risks within their portfolio.  

 

Staff receive training and support as part of induction, through ongoing staff activities and 

communications (including staff bulletins, specific training events and the staff handbook) 

and the development and promotion of the CCG’s policies and procedures to understand 

and manage risk and to feel supported in reporting risks of any kind. The CCG’s technology 

system continues to be used to monitor and assist in managing risks alongside the planning 

and performance functions of the CCG.  

 

Our approach to risk recognises that in order to commission healthcare successfully we 

need to work with many stakeholders and as part of this we explain our approach to risk, 

keep them informed of our risk position and seek their input into our plans and risk 

management actions. This is most visible through the Governing Board’s review and 

ratification of the GBAF.  

 

The control mechanisms contained within our Risk Management Framework were chosen as 

the best to support our approach to risk and our values, whilst meeting our responsibilities 

with regard to risk management and were informed by external legal and risk management 

expertise and advice. 

 

The Governing Board Assurance Framework  

There is an on-going well defined process to assessing risk. Risks are assessed as part of 

the development of any individual plan, work programme or business case and are a 

requirement of our planning and performance approach and integrated into our planning and 

performance process.  

 

The Governing Board sets the CCG’s strategic objectives. The Executive then identifies, on 

its behalf, the strategic risks related to delivering these and incorporates these into the 

GBAF. Teams are required to review and update their team risk registers on a regular basis 

which are then reviewed through the CCG’s committee structures and included within the 

strategic risks where felt appropriate via the Corporate Risk Register. The GBAF and 

Corporate Risk Register are reviewed by the Audit Committee, the Governing Board and its 

sub-committees as detailed above. 

 

Throughout the 2019/20 financial year, the CCG has identified a number of key risks to the 

achievement of its strategic objectives. These include meeting constitutional targets, 

pressure on partners, transformation and financial pressures including the requirement for 

savings. Controls have been put in place in order to mitigate these risks and factors 

influencing these risks along with scores are reported through Performance, Finance & 

Quality Reports and Governing Board Assurance Framework (GBAF) at the Governing 

Board and its sub-committees. 

 

The CCG identified the following strategic risks on the GBAF:  
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 Engaging with both Member Practices and patients to fully support clinically-led 

decision-making. 

 Continuing partnership working to both shape and deliver our plans and strategies. 

This includes those partners outside the NHS in the delivery of improving health and 

wellbeing. 

 Commissioning safe services with a focus on improving quality. 

 Maintaining credibility in order to deliver our priorities. 

 Ensuring that we meet our financial obligations. 

 

The CCG’s ability to comply with its licence and actions taken to identify any principal risks 

identified to compliance are included as part of the CCG’s Governing Board Assurance 

Framework and risk management processes. Effectiveness and performance is overseen by 

the Governing Board and through its committees and sub-committees as well as via the 

Executive. Review of effectiveness of the CCG’s operating model and structures are 

overseen by the Governing Board and development needs identified are included within its 

strategies and underpinning plans.  

 

2.18 Other sources of assurance  

Internal Control Framework 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical 

commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to 

identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 

impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

 

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than 

eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 

effectiveness. 

 

The Audit Committee has oversight on behalf of the Governing Board of the internal control 

mechanisms of the CCG. The Accountable Officer, supported by the Executive and wider 

executive team, oversees the management and delivery of the internal control mechanisms.  

The Audit Committee bases its assessments, and therefore assurance, on the effectiveness 

of the controls of the CCG upon: 

 

 Assurance provided by the Governing Board and committees work programmes; 

 A review of the CCG’s policies and procedures; and 

 With assurance from internal audit, external audit and other identified sources of 

assurance. 

 

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 

2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest 

management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a 

template audit framework.  
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The CCG has undertaken a Conflicts of Interests review through their Internal Audit Service 

during quarter four of the 2019/20 financial year. The CCG achieved ‘reasonable’ assurance 

for the Management of Conflicts of Interest from the Internal Auditors. 

 

Data Quality 

The CCG’s Commissioning Support Provider (NHS South, Central and West Commissioning 

Support Unit) acts as the Data Services for Commissioners Regional Offices (DSCRO). Staff 

processing and providing data to the CCG follow strict rules on accessing, analysing and 

processing data. NHS South, Central and West Commissioning Support Unit provides the 

CCG with its data on which the CCG conducts its business.  

 

This data is regularly reviewed by the Governing Board and its committees and data is 

adapted to meet their needs. The Governing Board finds the data acceptable. The CCG in 

partnership with the Commissioning Support Unit has quality control processes in place to 

assure itself of the quality of data used to ensure it is acceptable and improvement plans are 

in place where needed.  

 

Information Governance 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which 

the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal 

identifiable information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an 

information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to 

the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal 

information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 

 

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems and 

processes in place to help protect the information we are ultimately responsible for.  We 

have an established information governance management framework which is accompanied 

by a suite of information governance and information security policies.  These are 

complemented by additional guidance and procedures in line with the Data Security and 

Protection toolkit and good information management practice.  We have ensured all staff 

receive a face to face induction regarding their responsibilities and undertake annual 

information governance training with all staff.  We continue to review and utilise our staff 

information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information governance 

roles and responsibilities. 

 

There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious 

incidents.  We have embedded an information risk assessment and management 

programme to enhance an information risk culture throughout the organisation.  Through a 

process of regular review we continue to identify opportunities for improvement as part of the 

annual information governance action plan.  

 

The Governing Board continues to receive Information Governance Training as part of its 

annual training programme. The Head of Governance continues in the role of Data 

Protection Officer who reviews all data quality impact assessments for the CCG. There have 

been no incidents reported through the Data Protection Officer.  
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The CCG has received a ‘substantial assurance’ score for the Internal Audit of the Data 

Security Toolkit. 

Business Critical Models 

In line with best practice recommendations of the 2013 MacPherson review into the quality 

assurance of analytical models, the CCG has an appropriate framework and environment in 

place to provide quality assurance of business critical models. 

The CCG’s Business Continuity Plan is updated and reviewed on a regular basis - in 

particular during the latter part of the year in response to emergency planning and resilience 

arrangements. 

In addition, the CCG submitted assurance of compliance with the Emergency Preparedness, 

Resilience and Response Core Standards to NHS England. The CCG tested internal and 

external cascade arrangements and the Emergency Planning Officer attended meetings 

within the CCG to discuss business continuity.  

In response to COVID-19, the CCG is currently operating in Business Critical Mode from 24 

March 2020. 

Third party assurances 

The CCG has arrangements in place with Portsmouth City Council for the provision of 

complaints, freedom of information requests, learning and development and Human 

Resources (HR) services. Assurance is overseen by the Executive. Regular reports are 

reviewed by committees of the Governing Board. 

The CCG also has an agreement in place with NHS South, Central and West CSU for the 

provision of Contracting, Information Governance and Business Intelligence services. 

Assurance is provided by Service Audit Reports and overseen by the CCG’s Audit 

Committee. 

Work of the Local Counter Fraud and Security Service is overseen by the Audit Committee 

which includes regular work programme reports and an annual report. 

NHS Shared Business Services provide payroll services for the CCG. External Audit 

undertakes an audit each year in respect of the financial management of the CCG. The 

outcome of this audit is included and forms part of the CCG’s Annual Report and Accounts. 

2.19 Control issues 

No control issues were highlighted. 
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2.20 Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of 

resources 
 

The CCG’s Constitution sets out how the CCG will act effectively, efficiently and 

economically. It describes how responsibility for this is delegated to the Governing Board 

and the Audit Committee with advice from the Chief Finance Officer and through the use of 

value for money reviews, benchmarking, audit assurance processes and other tools 

ensuring the best use of resources. The Constitution also sets out how the CCG meets its 

general financial duties. The CCG’s supporting Prime and Detailed Financial Policies set out 

the controls in place for managing the CCG’s use of resources to ensure good corporate 

governance, internal control and management of risks.  

 

The CCG’s overall rating against the NHS England Improvement Assessment Framework 

was ‘good’ for 2018/19 – the most recently published data. 

2.21 Delegation of functions 

The CCG has not delegated any of its functions or duties. 

2.22 Counter fraud arrangements 

NHS Counter Fraud Authority has responsibility for policy and operational matters relating to 

the prevention, detection and investigation of fraud, bribery and corruption in the NHS. The 

Hampshire and Isle of Wight Counter Fraud Service is contracted to work with the CCG in 

determining appropriate systems and process for the prevention, identification and managing 

of the risks, and investigation of possible fraud. Their work is overseen by the CCG’s Chief 

Finance Officer. 

 

Activity of the Local Counter Fraud Specialists undertaken on behalf of the CCG is reported 

to, and reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee also oversees compliance 

with the NHS Counter Fraud Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 

through reports provided at least annually and the implementation of action plans addressing 

any areas for improvement. 

 

During the 2019/20 financial year, there were no reports of fraud requiring investigation.  

The CCG continues to work with the Local Counter Fraud Service to ensure that all relevant 

policies are reviewed by the service and provide the most up-to-date guidance and 

requirements for CCG staff. The CCG’s Anti Bribery statement can be found at: 

http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/About-Us/who-we-are-and-what-we-do.htm 

 

  

http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/About-Us/who-we-are-and-what-we-do.htm
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2.23 Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 

commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective 

opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of 

risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded: 

My overall opinion is that 

o Substantial assurance can be given that there is a sound system of internal control 

which is designed to meet the organisation’s objectives and that controls are being 

consistently applied in all the areas reviewed. 

BASIS OF INTERIM OPINION 

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 

Framework and supporting processes; and 

2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit 

assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been 

reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative 

materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of addressing 

control weaknesses. 

Additional areas of work that may support the opinion will be determined locally but are not 

required for NHS England and Improvement purposes e.g. any reliance that is being placed 

upon Third Party Assurances 

During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:  

Area of Audit Level of Assurance Given  

Delivery of QIPP Workstreams Substantial 

Portsmouth and South East Hampshire Systems 

Working 

Reasonable 

Primary Care Commissioning & Contracting – Primary 

Care Finance 

Reasonable 

CHC Spot Checks * Advisory, no opinion given 

Performance Management Substantial 

Primary Care Commissioning & Contracting – 

Contract Oversight & Management 

Substantial 

Key Financial Systems (including Payroll) Substantial 

Assurance Framework & Risk Management  Reasonable 

Conflicts of Interest  Reasonable 

Safeguarding # Reasonable 

Data Security and Protection Toolkit  Substantial 

* recommendations only    # draft report 
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2.24 Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management 

and internal control 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the 

internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning 

group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 

framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also 

informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other 

reports.  

 

Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that 

manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principal objectives have 

been reviewed.  

 

I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:  

 The Governing Board 

 The Audit Committee 

 The Quality & Safeguarding Committee 

 Internal audit 

 Regular Assurance meetings with NHS England/NHS Improvement 

 

Conclusion 

I can conclude that no significant internal control issues have been identified. 

 

 

 

 

Dr Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer  

24 June 2020 
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SECTION 2 PART B:  

REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT 

3.1 Remuneration Committee 

The membership and attendance at the CCGs Remuneration Committee is set out within our 

Governance Statement.  

In addition to members of the Governing Body, the Committee notably received support 

during the course of the year from the CCG’s Human Resources support provider 

(Portsmouth City Council) for which the CCG had a contract for services in place. The Chief 

Clinical Officer, Chief Finance Officer, Chief of Health & Care Portsmouth, and Managing 

Director, Deputy Chief Finance Officer and Head of Governance were also variously in 

attendance at meetings to provide support and answer specific questions of the Committee. 

The Committee was satisfied that the advice received was objective and independent. 

3.2 Policy on the remuneration of senior managers  

We have adopted Agenda for Change terms and conditions for all our staff including senior 

managers and Governing Board members. Spot salaries for senior managers have been 

established by the Remuneration Committee in line with NHS England guidance published in 

2012 (‘Clinical Commissioning Groups: Remuneration for Chief Officers and Chief Finance 

Officers’.)  These are reviewed annually. We intend to continue this approach for the 

foreseeable future. Remuneration awarded to Governing Board members as the senior 

managers of the organisation are set out below. 

 

We do not currently operate performance related pay.  

 

A summary of duration of contracts, and notice periods is contained within the following 

table. In line with UK Corporate Governance Code, the majority of Governing Board 

members are appointed for a fixed term and subject to re-appointment/re-election. The 

duration of contracts has been agreed with member practices as part of the agreement of 

our Constitution. Contracts do not provide for early termination but do provide for either party 

to give and receive paid notice for early termination. 
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Summary of contract and notice periods for Governing Board & Senior Managers  
 

 

Name Role CCG Start Date Unexpired term Notice Period 

Dr Linda Collie Clinical Leader & Chief Clinical 
Officer 

1 April 2013 Substantive appointment as Chief Clinical 
Officer 
31 March 2022 as Clinical Executive & therefore 
Clinical Leader 

3 months 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows Clinical Executive & Chair of 
Governing Board 

1 April 2013 31 March 2021 3 months 

Karen Atkinson Registered Nurse 20 March 2019 19 March 2022 3 months 

Margaret Geary Lay Member 1 October 2017 30 September 2020 3 months 

Graham Love Lay member 1 October 2017 30 September 2020 3 months 

Dr Nick Moore Clinical Executive 1 May 2017 30 April 2020 3 months 

Jackie Powell Lay member 1 April 2013 31 March 2022 3 months 

Innes Richens Chief of Health and Care 
Portsmouth 

1 April 2013 Substantive 12 weeks 

Tracy Sanders Managing Director 1 September 
2013 

Substantive 4 weeks 

David Scarborough Practice Manager 
Representative 

1 April 2018 31 March 2021 3 months 

Andy Silvester Lay member & Deputy Chair of 
Governing Board 

1 February 2014 31 August 2020 3 months 

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer  1 April 2013 Substantive 12 weeks 

Mr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Doctor 1 April 2013 31 March 2022 3 months 

 

In addition, the Portsmouth City Council Chief Executive and Director of Public Health are voting members of the CCGs Governing Board by 

virtue of their appointment to their roles with Portsmouth City Council. They are not employed by the CCG. 
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3.3 Remuneration of Very Senior Managers 

The remuneration of our Governing Board members and other very senior managers is set out in the table below. We can confirm no individual 

within the CCG is paid more than £150,000 per annum.  

3.4 Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 2019/20  

 

         

Salary & Fees
Performance Pay & 

Bonuses

All Pension-related 

benefits
Total

(Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £2,500) (Bands of £5,000)

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Dr Linda Collie Clinical Leader & Accountable Officer (Chief Clinical Officer) 70-75 - 70-75 - 5-7.5 75-80

Innes Richens Chief of Health and Care for Portsmouth i) 115-120 - 55-60 - 47.5-50 105-110

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer 115-120 - 115-120 - 80-82.5 195-200

Tracy Sanders Managing Director ii) 100-105 - 100-105 - - 100-105

Dr Elizabeth Fellows Clinical Executive & Chair of Governing Board 70-75 - 70-75 - 10-12.5 80-85

Dr Nick Moore Clinical Executive iii) 30-35 - 30-35 - 2.5-5 30-35

David Scarborough Practice Manager Representative 5-10 - 5-10 - - 5-10

Jackie Powell Lay Member 10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15

Andy Silvester Lay Member 10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15

Graham Love Lay Member 10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15

Margaret Geary Lay Member 10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15

Dr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Doctor 5-10 - 5-10 - - 5-10

Karen Atkinson Nurse Clinical Executive 10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15

Dr Simon Simonian Clinical Executive iv) 20-25 - 20-25 - N/A N/A

Dr Carsten Lesshafft Clinical Executive v) 20-25 - 20-25 - N/A N/A

This table is subject to external Audit

i)  Innes Richens continued to undertake a joint role of Chief of Health and Care Portsmouth for NHS Portsmouth CCG and Portsmouth City Council

ii) Tracy Sanders in her role as Managing Director reduced her hours from 37.5 to 30 on the 1st July 2019.

iii) Dr Nick Moore in his role as Clinical Executive increased his sessions by an additional 6 sessions per year on the 1st August 2019.

iv) Dr Simon Simonian in his role as Clinical Executive joined the NHS Portsmouth CCG Governing Body on the 1st June 2019

v) Dr Carsten Lesshafft, in his role of Clinical Executive for NHS Portsmouth CCG, joined the Governing Body on 1st June 2019

This table is subject to Audit 2019/20

Name Title

Full Salary & Fees
Full Performance Pay 

& Bonuses

NHS Portsmouth CCG
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 2018/19 comparator 
This table is subject to Audit 2018/19 

Name Title 

Full Salary & Fees 
Full Performance 

Pay & Bonuses 

NHS Portsmouth CCG 

Salary & Fees 
Performance Pay 

& Bonuses 

All Pension-

related benefits 
Total 

(Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £2,500) 
(Bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Linda Collie 
Clinical Leader & Accountable Officer 
(Chief Clinical Officer)   70-75 - 70-75 - 22.5-25 95-100 

Innes Richens Chief of Health and Care for Portsmouth i) 115-120 - 55-60 - 35-37.5 90-95 

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer 
 

115-120 - 115-120 - 30-32.5 145-150 

Tracy Sanders Managing Director 
 

95-100 - 95-100 - - 95-100 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows 
Clinical Executive & Chair of Governing 
Board ii) 60-65 - 60-65 - 15-17.5 75-80 

Dr Jonathan Lake Clinical Executive iii) 10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15 

Dr Anne Eggins Clinical Executive iv) 15-20 - 15-20 - - 15-20 

Dr Nick Moore Clinical Executive 
 

25-30 - 25-30 - 5-7.5 35-40 

Dr Julie Cullen Registered Nurse Lay Member v) 0-5 - 0-5 - - 0-5 

David Scarborough Practice Manager Representative vi) 5-10 - 5-10 - - 5-10 

Denise Matthams Nurse Clinical Executive vii) 0-5 - 0-5 - - 0-5 

Jackie Powell Lay Member 
 

10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15 

Andy Silvester Lay Member 
 

10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15 

Graham Love Lay Member 
 

10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15 

Margaret Geary  Lay Member 
 

10-15 - 10-15 - - 10-15 

Dr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Doctor 
 

5-10 - 5-10 - - 5-10 

Karen Atkinson Nurse Clinical Executive viii) - - - - - - 

This table has been subject to external audit. 

i)  Innes Richens continued to undertake a joint role of Chief of Health and Care Portsmouth for NHS Portsmouth CCG and Portsmouth City Council 

ii) Dr Elizabeth Fellows, in her role of Clinical Executive and Chair of Governing Body for NHS Portsmouth CCG, increased her sessions from 4 (16 hours)upto and including the 31st December 2018, to 5 (20 hours) for 

the 1st January 2019 upto 31st March 2019. 

iii) Dr Jonathan Lake took an unpaid Sabbatical from his role as Clinical Executive with NHS Portsmouth CCG from 1st August 2018 to 31st January 2019. Subsequently on the 1st February 2019 he left the Governing 

Body. 

iv) Dr Anne Eggins, in her role of Clinical Executive for NHS Portsmouth CCG, left the Governing Body on 24th October 2018. 

v) Dr Julie Cullen’s last day in her role of Registered Nurse Lay Member on the NHS Portsmouth CCG Governing Body was 30th September 2018. 

vi) David Scarborough, Practice Manager Representative for NHS Portsmouth CCG, joined the Governing Body on 1st April 2018, replacing Paul Cox. 
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vii) Denise Matthams, in her role of Nurse Clinical Executive sat on the NHS Portsmouth CCG Governing Body for the period 27th September 2018 to 31st December 2018. 

viii) Karen Atkinson, joined the NHS Portsmouth CCG Governing Body in the role of Nurse Representative, on 20th March 2019.  No payroll or pension information available at the time of report. 

 

3.5 Pension benefits as at 31 March 2020  

 
 

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h)

Real increase in pension 

at pension age

Real increase in pension 

lump sum at pension 

age

Total accrued pension at 

pension age at 31 March 

2020

Lump sum at pension 

age related to accrued 

pension at 31 March 

2020

Cash Equivalent 

Transfer Value a 1 April 

2019

Real increase in Cash 

Equivalent Transfer 

Value

Cash Equivalent 

Transfer Value at 31 

March 2020

Employers contribution 

to stakeholder pension

(Bands of £2,500) (Bands of £2,500) (Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £5,000)

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Dr Linda Collie
Clinical Leader & Accountable 

Officer (Chief Clinical Officer)
0-2.5 (2.5)-0 15-20 35-40 253 6 276 N/A

Innes Richens
Chief of Health and Care for 

Portsmouth
2.5-5 2.5-5 35-40 80-85 623 48 703 N/A

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer 2.5-5 5-7.5 50-55 145-150 1,045 80 1,167 N/A

Dr Elizabeth Fellows
Clinical Executive & Chair of 

Governing Board
0-2.5 2.5-5 0-5 10-15 90 12 115 N/A

Dr Nick Moore Clinical Executive i) 0-2.5 (2.5)-0 10-15 30-35 191 3 203 N/A

Dr Simon Simonian Clinical Executive ii) N/A N/A 5-7.5 N/A N/A N/A 61 N/A

Dr Carsten Lesshafft Clinical Executive iii) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

This table is subject to external audit

i) Dr Nick Moore, in his role as Clinical Executive for Portsmouth CCG, increased his sessions by an additional 6 per annum, from 1st August 2019.

ii) Dr Simon Simonian, in his role as Clinical Executive for NHS Portsmouth CCG, joined the Governing Body on 1st June 2019. Prior year pension information is not available at this time.

iii) Dr Carsten Lesshafft, in his role of Clinical Executive for NHS Portsmouth CCG, joined the Governing Body on 1st June 2019.  Pension information is not available at this time.

Name Title
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3.6 Cash equivalent transfer values  

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the 

pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits 

valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable 

beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. 

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 

benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and 

chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown 

relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total 

membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which 

disclosure applies. 

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in 

another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension 

scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result 

of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. 

CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and 

Faculty of Actuaries.  

3.7 Real increase in CETV  

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It does not include the 

increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including 

the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement). 

3.8 Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office  

There have been no payments in the current or previous financial year for loss of office.  

3.9 Payments to past members  

There have been no payments to past members.  
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3.10 Pay multiples  

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 

highest paid director/member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 

organisation’s workforce. 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member of the CCG in the financial 

year 2019/20 was £145,000 - £150,000 (2018/19 £140,000 - £145,000).  This was 3.31 

times (3.19 in 2018/19) higher than the median remuneration of the workforce, which was 

£45,000 - £50,000 (2018/19 £45,000 - £50,000). 

In 2019/20, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest paid director/ 

member during either 2019/20 or 2018/19. Remuneration ranged from £18,800 to £147,500 

(2018/19 £18,600 to £144,000) 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-

kind, but not severance payments.  It does not include employer pension contributions and 

the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 

STAFF REPORT  

3.11 Number of senior managers 

As at 31st March 2020 our Governing Board (the senior managers of the CCG) comprised of 

9 voting members who were male and 6 voting members who were female.  All Governing 

Body members are paid on local spot rates. 

There is one other individual paid on local senior manager spot rate as agreed by the 

Remuneration Committee and she is female. 

Total number of Senior Managers paid at local spot rates. 

Band 
Number 

Permanent Other 

Local Spot Rates 12 9 
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3.12 Staff numbers and costs 

Staff costs 

Description 
Number 

Permanent Other* 

Salaries & Wages 3,473 49 

Social security costs 353   

NHS pension costs 632   

Apprenticeship Levy 5   

Total Staff Costs 4,463 49 

Staff numbers 

Description 
Number 

Permanent Other* 

General Medical Practitioner 6 7 

Senior Manager - Central Functions 16 4 

Manager Clinical Support 1 0 

Clerical & Administrative - Central Functions 50 2 

Clerical & Administrative - Clinical Support 4 0 

Support Worker - Acute, Elderly and General 1 0 

Nurse Manager - Community Services 4 0 

Nurse - Community Services 1 0 

Pharmacists - Trained 5 0 

Pharmacy Technicians 5 0 

Total Staff Numbers 93 13 

* Includes Governing Body Executives, staff recharged by other NHS 
bodies, agency & temporary staff 
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3.13 Staff composition 

 

Band 
Number 

Male Female 

Local Spot Rates 11 10 

Senior Managers (Band 9) 1 1 

Other Employees 18 65 

3.14 Sickness absence data  

The CCG maintains overall a low rate of absence when compared to others in the NHS.  

We have a sickness absence management policy to ensure the equitable, fair and sensitive 

management of employees who are unable to fulfil their contractual duties due to ill health or 

disability.  

The majority of sickness absence was short term in nature. Where there is long term staff 

sickness, we have a policy to work proactively to support staff in their return to work. This 

can involve the support of occupational health services, employee assistance programmes 

and the consideration of flexible working arrangements in accordance with CCG HR policies.  

Sickness and absence rate statistics are available here: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-

information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates 

3.15 Staff policies 

Our responsibilities and commitments as an employer are set out in our Human Resources 

Framework. Our Framework is underpinned by a range of policies which seek to ensure 

equality and diversity within the workforce and appropriate arrangements to support all 

individuals.  

 

We are committed to working in line with current employment legislation, including the 

Equality Act 2010. This means we aim to provide a working environment free from 

discrimination, victimisation, and harassment, whether on an individual or institutional basis 

on the grounds of age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnerships, 

pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex (gender), sexual orientation, or any 

other grounds that infringe on Human Rights. 

 

We also aim to recruit a representative workforce from all sections of the community in order 

to commission healthcare services that respect and respond to the diverse needs of the 

people of Portsmouth.  

 

In line with the CCG equality, diversity and human rights policy anonymous staff equalities 

monitoring is used to identify trends and potential unfairness in recruitment, access to 

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
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training and career progression. This looks at all protected characteristics and includes 

disability. If unfairness is found the CCG would use positive action to address this. 

 

3.16 Trade Union Facility Time 

Public sector organisations are required to report on trade union facility time, which is the 

paid time off for union representatives to carry out trade union activities. During 2019/20 no 

member of staff from NHS Portsmouth CCG has acted as a Trade Union official. 

3.17 Other employee matters 

The CCG surveys staff on its approach to equality and diversity as part of its broader staff 

survey approach and this feedback is incorporated into our equality and diversity annual 

report as well as informing action planning for the future.  

Information on our employee consultation and participation arrangements is reported to 

earlier in this annual report under staff engagement activities in section 1.7.  

The CCG has health and safety arrangements in place with specialist direction provided 

under a service level agreement from Portsmouth City Council. As part of this the CCG has 

a health and safety statement, has adopted a range of health and safety policies and 

requires all individuals to undertake relevant health and safety training.  

3.18 Consultancy expenditure 

The CCG spent £0k on Consultancy Fees during the financial year.  This compared to £0 in 

2018/19. 
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3.19 Off payroll engagements 

 

3.20 Exit packages, including special (non-contractual payments)   

No exit packages or special (non-contractual) payments have been made by the CCG in the 

year ending 31st March 2020. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months

No. of existing engagements as of 31 March 2020 0

Of which:

No. that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting 0

No. that have existed for between one and two years at time of reporting 0

No. that have existed for between two and three years at time of reporting 0

No. that have existed for between three and four years at time of reporting 0

No. that have existed for four or more years at time of reporting 0

Table 2: New Off-payroll engagements

No. of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 April 2019 

and 31 March 2020
0

Of which

No. assessed as caught by IR35 0

No. assessed as not caught by IR35 0

No. engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on the department payroll 0

No. of engagments reassessed for consistency / assurance purposes during the year 0

No. of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the consistency review 0

Table 3: Off-payroll board member/senior official engagements

No. of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials with significant 

financial responsibility, during the financial year.
0

No. of individuals that have been deemed "board members", and/or, senior officials with 

significant financial responsibility", during the financial year.  This figure should include both 

off-payroll and on-payroll engagements.

15
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3.21 Audit of Accountability Report 

Auditors have reviewed the Accountability Report for consistency with other information in 

the financial statements and have provided an opinion on the following disclosures that have 

been made: 

 Single total figure of remuneration for each director/member; 

 CETV disclosures for each director/member; 

 Payments to past directors/members, if relevant; 

 Payments for loss of office, if relevant; 

 “Fair pay” (pay multiples) disclosures; 

 Exit packages, if relevant, and: 

 Staff report, staff numbers and values 

 Regulatory of expenditure (Value for Money) 

 Fees and charges 

 Remote contingent liabilities. 

 

 

Dr Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer  

24 June 2020 
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SECTION 4 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of NHS Portsmouth CCG (the ‘CCG’) for the year 

ended 31 March 2020, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, 

the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity, the 

Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 

their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the Department of 

Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020. 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2020 and of its 

expenditure and income for the year then ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 

Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 

2012. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 

(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 

the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. 

We are independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 

Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

The impact of macro-economic uncertainties on our audit 

Our audit of the financial statements requires us to obtain an understanding of all relevant 

uncertainties, including those arising as a consequence of the effects of macro-economic 

uncertainties such as Covid-19 and Brexit. All audits assess and challenge the 

reasonableness of estimates made by the Accountable Officer and the related disclosures 

and the appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparation of the financial 

statements. All of these depend on assessments of the future economic environment and 

the CCGs future operational arrangements. Covid-19 and Brexit are amongst the most 

significant economic events currently faced by the UK, and at the date of this report their 

effects are subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty, with the full range of possible 

outcomes and their impacts unknown. We applied a standardised firm-wide approach in 

response to Appendix C these uncertainties when assessing the CCGs future operational 

arrangements. However, no audit should be expected to predict the unknowable factors or 

all possible future implications for an entity associated with these particular events. 
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Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs 

(UK) require us to report to you where: 

• the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of 

the financial statements is not appropriate; or 

• the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material 

uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the CCGs ability to continue to adopt the 

going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when 

the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

In our evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions, and in accordance with the 

expectation set out within the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting 

Manual 2019 to 2020 that the CCGs financial statements shall be prepared on a going 

concern basis, we considered the risks associated with the CCGs operating activities, 

including effects arising from macro-economic uncertainties such as Covid-19 and Brexit. 

We analysed how those risks might affect the CCGs financial resources or ability to continue 

operations over the period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 

statements are authorised for issue. In accordance with the above, we have nothing to report 

in these respects. 

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events 

may result in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the 

time they were made, the absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's 

report is not a guarantee that the CCG will continue in operation. 

Other information 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information 

comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements 

and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 

other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the 

financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 

or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we 

identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to 

determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material 

misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to 

report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit 

Practice 

Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2015 on 

behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required 

to consider whether the Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued 

by the NHS Commissioning Board or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of 

which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the 

Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily 

addressed by internal controls. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice  

In our opinion: 

• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared 

in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by 

the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 and the 

requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012; and 

• based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our 

knowledge of the CCG gained through our work in relation to the CCGs arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, the other information 

published together with the financial statements in the Annual Report for the financial year 

for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Opinion on regularity required by the Code of Audit Practice  

In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial 

statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 

transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if: 

• we issue a report in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of 

the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the 

body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of 

action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or 

deficiency; or 

• we make a written recommendation to the CCG under Section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. 
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Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance for 

the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's responsibilities [set out on 

page(s) 49 to 50, the Accountable Officer, is responsible for the preparation of the financial 

statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Directions, for being satisfied 

that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing 

the CCGs ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 

going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they have been 

informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the CCG without the 

transfer of its services to another public sector entity. 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income 

in the financial statements. 

The Audit Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged with Governance 

are responsible for overseeing the CCGs financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 

an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 

assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located 

on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 

description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in 

the financial statements in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the CCG’s 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources 

Matter on which we are required to report by exception - CCG’s arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion we have 

not been able to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 

2020. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter. 
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Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 

As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible for 

putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 

the use of the CCGs resources. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

We are required under Section 21(1)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit 

and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to report where 

we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that it has done so. We are not required to 

consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCGs arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating 

effectively. 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having 

regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor 

General in April 2020, as to whether in all significant respects, the CCG had proper 

arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to 

achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller 

and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the 

Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for 

the year ended 31 March 2020, and to report by exception where we are not satisfied. 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk 

assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the 

CCG has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS Portsmouth 

CCG in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 

and the Code of Audit Practice. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, in 

accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has 

been undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG 

those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 

anyone other than the CCG and the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, 

for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Signature          

Iain Murray, Key Audit Partner 

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 
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London 

24th June 2020 
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SECTION 5 FINANCE REPORT  

5.1 Financial overview 

The CCG met its financial and administrative financial duties in 2019/20. The full results are 

set out within the CCGs Annual Accounts and notes to the accounts at the end of this 

document. The key results are: 

 

 An in-year revenue breakeven against an in-year revenue resource limit of £340.8m 

(including running costs allowance). 

 A cumulative revenue surplus of £7.3m against a total revenue resource limit of 

£348m. 

 The cash balance at year end was £98k which was within the target set by NHS 

England. 

 The CCG incurred no capital expenditure during 2019/20. 

 

5.2 Review of the financial year 

The CCG continued to perform well financially and met all of its financial duties.  These are: 

to remain within its revenue, capital and running costs allocations, and to ensure cash at 

year end is no more than 1.25% of the cash drawdown in the month of March 2020. 

  

The CCG was required to set its 2019/20 Financial Plan in accordance with the planning 

rules and requirements set out by NHS England and set a budget to achieve an in-year 

break-even control total. 

Revised commissioning hospital discharge guidance effective from 19th March 2020 to 

enable the NHS to respond to the COVID-19 situation resulted in additional costs being 

incurred across Primary Care and Portsmouth City Council. The CCG received £128k of the 

national available funding available to offset the additional costs incurred responding to 

COVID-19 across Primary Care and the Council in 2019/20. 

During 2019/20 the CCG utilised £1m of its historic surplus to support the development of 

new services across the population throughout the year. Access to drawdown the allocation 

was granted by NHS England in exchange for improving the financial positon in 2018/19 by 

£0.5m. As a result, the cumulative surplus position has reduced when compared to 2018/19.   



85 
 

The CCG received a total revenue allocation of £340.8m, which included the cumulative 

surplus from 2018/19 of £7.3m and a running cost allocation of £4.9m.  Revenue 

expenditure for the year amounted to £340.8m which provided an in-year breakeven, and 

cumulative surplus of £7.3m.  

The CCG set aside a contingency to manage any risks around unexpected activity or cost 

pressures, particularly in relation to potential over-performance on any contracts.   

The charts show how the CCG applied this across the various commissioning areas, 

together with a breakdown of the amount spent per head of population. 

Spend per head of population 2019/20 

 

 

Allocation £m

£1,473 per head

Planned

49%

Emergency

51%

Running Costs

£19

Community Health

£164

Social Care and Voluntary

£44

Delegated Primary Care 

Co-Commissioning
£121

Primary Care

£172

Acute

£693

Mental Health

£177

Continuing Healthcare

£83

Expenditure £340.8m

Population 231,311
Equates to £1,473 per head of population
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Commissioning Spend 2019/20 

 

During the financial year, the CCG’s major financial pressures were within  

 

 Extra-Contractual referrals relating to inpatient mental health services; 

 Prescribing; 

 Continuing Healthcare, caused by increasing costs of packages and continued 

increase in the number of 1:1 packages.  

 

Despite the risks, expenditure was managed within the agreed control total.  The CCG was 

able to provide investment into the acute, community and primary care sectors to improve 

flow and discharge and to help to manage demand on emergency services, thus improving 

care for patients. 

 

The CCG achieved the Mental Health Investment Standard during 2019/20, increasing 

recurrent expenditure in Mental Health by 8.1% compared to a 6.1% requirement. 

Whilst the CCG continues to maintain a strong financial position, this is not representative of 

all partners within the local health and social care system.  The wider system has continued 

to be under financial pressure during the year.   

 

The CCG continues to work as part of the Portsmouth and South East Hampshire Integrated 

Care Partnership.  The  Integrated Care Partnership is  working together to evaluate and 

understand the scale of the financial challenge, and to jointly agree work on longer term 

plans to enable overall financial balance whilst delivering sustainable healthcare. The 

partnership is one of four ICPs that form part of the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated 

Care System. 

 

The CCG also continues to develop integration with Portsmouth City Council to enable both 

organisations to better manage financial risk as well as working more efficiently on behalf of 

our citizens. 
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5.3 Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) 

The NHS as a whole has to improve efficiency to offset the rising cost of healthcare from 

new technologies, population growth and complexity of need, inflation and other pressures.  

 

The national programme is now well established to release savings by improving quality, 

driving innovation in healthcare, improving productivity and preventing ill-health.  

 

The CCG was required to deliver savings of £9.99m during the year in order to achieve its 

control total.  These efficiencies were achieved through a range of measures, including the 

use of benchmarking information from the NHS Right Care initiative to remove unwarranted 

variation, as well as developing closer working relationships with operational teams in our 

main provider to change patient pathways and improve patient flow.  

 

Further savings have been achieved through the reduction of the estates footprint within 

Portsmouth and a review of back office costs within the CCG. 

 

5.4 Running costs 

Each CCG is set a limit on how much it can spend on its administrative costs. For our CCG, 

this limit is £4.9m, which equates to £19 per head of population.  The CCG spent £4.3m in 

2019-20 in anticipation of a reduction in allocation from 2020-21. 

5.5 Cash 

NHS England set a cash target for each CCG, insofar as cashbook balances held should not 

exceed 1.25% of the CCGs cash drawdown for March 2020.  The CCGs target equated to a 

maximum cashbook balance of £292k, the actual cashbook balance of £98k was within the 

threshold. 

 

5.6 Better payment practice code 

The Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) requires CCGs to aim to pay all valid invoices by 

the due date, or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice.  For non-NHS invoices, we paid 

99.2% of the number of invoices in line with the BPPC (99.9% of the value), and for NHS 

invoices, we paid 99.92% of the number of invoices in line with the BPPC (100% of the 

value). 

 

NHS organisations are deemed to have complied with this measure if at least 95% of 

invoices are paid within 30 days or within contract terms. 

 

5.7 Fees and charges 

In the majority of cases the CCG cannot charge a fee to individuals who exercise their right 

to obtain a copy of the information that the CCG holds about them.  This is known as a 

Subject Access Request.  The CCG operated in compliance with the cost allocation and 
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charging requirements set out in HM Treasury guidance.  The CCG received no fees and 

charges in this respect during 2019/20. 

 

5.8 Financial plan 2020/21 

NHS England issued planning guidance together with updated allocations in January 2020.  

The per capita allocation for 2020/21 is £1,482 which includes the CCG’s additional growth 

in allocation (compared to £1,473 in 2019/20). 

   

The planning requirements for CCGs are to apply a set of business rules in order to plan to 

achieve an agreed control total of £30k surplus.   

 

This will deliver the necessary outcomes for the CCG including above average investment in 

Mental Health and Community services, further investment in primary care and a level of 

funding in acute care to ensure activity targets can be met and that seasonal fluctuations in 

demand are adequately resourced. 

 

The financial plan estimates the required savings for 2020/21 at £11.1m. We must achieve 

this level of savings to maintain our future financial stability. 

 

The contract negotiation process for 2020-21 is close to a conclusion however is currently on 

pause to support the country in responding to the global COVID-19 pandemic. Arrangements 

in the interim have been negotiated at a national level and the CCG fully expects contracts to 

be signed with main providers in the near future. 

 

We will continue to work with system partners to deliver a transformation programme that will 

provide sustainable and affordable services in future years. 

 

 

 

 

 

Michelle Spandley 

Chief Finance Officer  

24 June 2020 
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SECTION 6 ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

Full accounts now follow. These have been prepared under a Direction issued by the NHS 

Commissioning Board under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

Dr Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer  

24 June 2020 
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The financial statements on pages 90 to 93 were approved by the Governing Body on 24th June 2020 

and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

Linda Collie 

Chief Clinical Officer 
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SECTION 7 GLOSSARY 

Some of the terms used in this report may be ones that you are not familiar with. This guide 
may help… 
 
  

A&E Accident and Emergency Department, often referred to now as 
the Emergency Department or ED 

A&E Four Hour Target A nationally set target requiring 95% patients attending an A&E 
department to be seen, treated, admitted or discharged in under 
four hours. 

STP/ICS Sustainable Transformation Partnership/Integrated Care System 
– a group of NHS care provider organisations and commissioners 
working together to provide care to local people over a 
particular geographical area – in our case Portsmouth, South 
Eastern Hampshire and Fareham/Gosport. Can sometimes also 
be referred to as a Local Delivery System (LDS). Accountable Care 
Systems might further evolve into Accountable Care 
Organisations at some point in the future (ie a single employing 
entity for everyone working in an ACS.) The NHS Five Year 
Forward View Next Steps document provides more information. 

BCF Better Care Fund 

Better Local Care The name given to the programme of work in our CCG area to 
develop new models of care,  under our MCP vanguard 
programme, particularly in bringing primary and community care 
to work more closely together. 

BAME Black and Asian minority ethnic 

CAMHS Child and adolescent mental health services 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CHC NHS continuing healthcare  

COMPACT This is the term that refers to three CCGs in the South East 
Hampshire working collectively together. The COMPACT is a 
formal agreement signed by all three. 

COPD Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 

CQC Care Quality Commission  

CQUIN Commissioning for Quality and Innovation Payment – allows 
commissioners to reward excellence, by linking a proportion 
healthcare providers' income to the achievement of local quality 
improvement goals. 

CSU Commissioning Support Unit 

ED Emergency Department (see A&E above) 

E&D Equality and diversity 

EIA Equality Impact Assessment 

EPRR Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response – how we 
plan to respond to major incidents or intense pressure on 
services 

Equality delivery system Linked to the Public Sector Equality Duty, this is a tool that helps 
local NHS organisations review and improve their performance 
for people with characteristics protected by the Equality Act 
2010. 

ESR Electronic staff record 

FOI Freedom of Information  

FFT Friends and family test 

FT Foundation Trust 
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FTE Full time equivalent (for staff purposes) – sometimes referred to 
as Whole Time Equivalent (WTE) 

FYFV (also 5YFV) NHS Five Year Forward View document 

Governing Board/Governing Body All CCGs are required to have a Governing Body and locally we 
refer to ours as a Governing Board. 

GBAF Governing Body Assurance Framework 

GMS General medical services (contract) 

GP General Practitioner 

HASC/HOSP Local authority monitoring and scrutiny bodies – the Hampshire 
Health and Adult Social Care Select Committee and the 
Portsmouth Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

Health and Care Portsmouth/HCP The name given to the programme of work in Portsmouth to 
develop new models of care, particularly in bringing primary and 
community care to work more closely together. 

Health and Wellbeing Board A forum where key leaders from the health and care system 
work together to improve the health and wellbeing of their local 
population and reduce health inequalities. 
 

HCAI/CDIFF Health Care Acquired Infection (one such example is CDIFF or 
clostridium difficile) 

ICP Integrated Care Partnership - a partnership for Portsmouth and 
South East Hampshire which includes all NHS providers (including 
primary care) delivering health services for people for the area. 
Local authorities are also involved. 

IG Information Governance 

IT/ICT Information technology/Information Communications 
Technology. However ICT can also refer to our Integrated 
Commissioning Team which is developing closer working links 
between health and local authority commissioners. 

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

LA Local authority 

LES Local enhanced service 

LMC  Local medical committee 

LSP Local strategic partnership 

MAU Medical assessment unit 

MCP/Multi-specialty community 
provider 

Multispecialty community providers (MCPs) and integrated 
primary and acute care systems (PACSs) are both population-
based new care models that aim to improve the physical, mental 
and social health and wellbeing of their local population. Both 
are based around the general practice registered list, and apply a 
new model of enhanced primary and community care. 

MCP contract The fully integrated MCP contract will be the means by which 
new models of care will be delivered in future. It is essentially a 
new streamlined hybrid of the NHS standard contract and a 
contract for primary medical services. It will set national and 
local service requirements and standards. Contract duration will 
be much longer than is usual for an NHS standard contract: 10 or 
15 years. 

MIU Minor injuries unit 

NHSE NHS England 

NHS Five Year Forward View The NHS Five Year Forward View, published in October 2014, sets 
out a vision for the future of the NHS. It articulates why change is 
needed, and how we can achieve it, defining the actions required 
at local and national level to support delivery. 

NHS Long Term Plan Successor publication to the NHS Five Year Forward View 
published in January 2019 by NHS England. More information is 



120 
 

available here. 

NHS South, Central and West 
Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) 

The body that provides a range of support services to CCGs in the 
Hampshire area, including Portsmouth 

OOH Out of hours 

PACS/Primary and Acute Care System Multispecialty community providers (MCPs) and integrated 
primary and acute care systems (PACSs) are both population-
based new care models that aim to improve the physical, mental 
and social health and wellbeing of their local population. Both 
are based around the general practice registered list, and apply a 
new model of enhanced primary and community care. 

PAM Patient activation measure 

PAS Patient administration system 

PCN Primary care network (see NHS Long Term Plan Jan 2019) 

PDP Personal development plan 

PFI Private finance initiative 

PHE Public Health England 

PHT Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust – provider of acute health 
services locally 

PMS Personal medical services 

Portsmouth Primary Care 
Alliance/PPCA 

A formal body representing the interests of GP practices in the 
city 

PPE/PPI Patient and public engagement/involvement 

Public Sector Equality Duty The duty came into force in April 2011 and covers age, disability, 
gender, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief and sexual orientation. In summary, those 
subject to the general equality duty must have due regard to the 
need to: 

- Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation 

- Advance equality of opportunity between different 
groups 

- Foster good relations between different groups 
 

QIPP The Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) 
programme drives forward quality improvements in NHS care, at 
the same time as ensuring efficiency savings. 

QOF Quality and outcomes framework 

RAG Red, amber, green assessment rating 

RTT Referral to treatment – a nationally set target. The Referral to 
Treatment (RTT) operational standards are that 90 per cent of 
admitted and 95 percent of non-admitted patients should start 
consultant-led treatment within 18 weeks of referral 

SCAS South Central Ambulance Service 

Section 75 agreement An agreement made under section 75 of National Health Services 
Act 2006 between a local authority and an NHS body in England. 
Section 75 agreements can include arrangements for pooling 
resources and delegating certain NHS and local authority health-
related functions to the other partner(s) if it would lead to an 
improvement in the way those functions are exercised. 

SIRI Serious incident requiring investigation 

SLA Service level agreement 

STP/Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan/Partnership 

NHS Shared Planning Guidance in 2016 asked every local health 
and care system in England to come together to create their own 
ambitious local plan for accelerating the implementation of the 
Five Year Forward View (5YFV). These blueprints, called 
Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs), will be place-

https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-term-plan/
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based, multi-year plans built around the needs of local 
populations. STPs will help drive a genuine and sustainable 
transformation in health and care outcomes between 2016 and 
2021. Our local plan covers Hampshire and the Isle of Wight. 
The NHS Five Year Forward View Next Steps document refers to 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships – these will 
oversee the national move towards more integrated care, at a 
local level. 

STP footprint See above. The ‘footprint’ reference denotes the geographical 
area covered by each separate STP. 

SystmOne The shared patient record system used in the city 

TARGET Local training sessions for GPs. 

Vanguard/MCP Vanguard The CCG was selected as one of 14 national MCP Vanguard sites 
(see Better Local Care) to be at the forefront of work to deliver 
new models of care that met with the aspirations set out in the 
NHS Five Year Forward View. 

WGA Whole Government Accounts 

WRES Workforce race equality standard 
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If you would like to get in touch… 
 
We value your views on your local NHS. We particularly welcome comments about all 

patient services, as these help us to monitor the quality of the services we commission and 

to make improvements. 

 

We would also be interested in your views on this annual report so we can improve it next 

time. You can also request this annual report in the following versions: 

 

Translated 

Large print 

Braille 

Audio 

 
You can contact us through our website 

www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk 

or by emailing us at 

pccg.enquiries@nhs.net 

You can also follow us on Twitter 

@nhsportsmouthccg 

 

If you are interested in getting involved in helping us plan, develop and deliver NHS services 

in the Portsmouth area why not join our online Healthy Discussions group or join a Patient 

Participation group through your GP surgery. Details are on our website. 

 
NHS Portsmouth CCG 
CCG Headquarters, 4th Floor, 1 Guildhall Square, Portsmouth, PO1 2GJ 

 

 

mailto:pccg.enquiries@nhs.net

